# UNIVERSITY LIBRARIES

UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones

5-1-2022

# Factors Affecting Hotel Recommendation: Before the COVID-19 Pandemic and After the Reopening

Boran Kim

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalscholarship.unlv.edu/thesesdissertations

Part of the Business Administration, Management, and Operations Commons, and the Operational Research Commons

### **Repository Citation**

Kim, Boran, "Factors Affecting Hotel Recommendation: Before the COVID-19 Pandemic and After the Reopening" (2022). *UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones*. 4421. http://dx.doi.org/10.34917/31813306

This Thesis is protected by copyright and/or related rights. It has been brought to you by Digital Scholarship@UNLV with permission from the rights-holder(s). You are free to use this Thesis in any way that is permitted by the copyright and related rights legislation that applies to your use. For other uses you need to obtain permission from the rights-holder(s) directly, unless additional rights are indicated by a Creative Commons license in the record and/ or on the work itself.

This Thesis has been accepted for inclusion in UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones by an authorized administrator of Digital Scholarship@UNLV. For more information, please contact digitalscholarship@unlv.edu.

## FACTORS AFFECTING HOTEL RECOMMENDATION: BEFORE THE COVID-19

### PANDEMIC AND AFTER THE REOPENING

By

## Boran Kim

Bachelor of Science - Hospitality Management University of Nevada, Las Vegas 2017

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Master of Science - Hotel Administration

William F. Harrah College of Hospitality The Graduate College

University of Nevada, Las Vegas May 2022 Copyright by Boran Kim, 2022

All Rights Reserved



## **Thesis Approval**

The Graduate College The University of Nevada, Las Vegas

March 30, 2022

This thesis prepared by

Boran Kim

entitled

Factors Affecting Hotel Recommendation: Before the COVID-19 Pandemic and After the Reopening

is approved in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science - Hotel Administration William F. Harrah College of Hospitality

Jungsun Kim, Ph.D. Examination Committee Chair

Mehmet Erdem, Ph.D. Examination Committee Member

Ashok Singh, Ph.D. Examination Committee Member

Andrew Hardin, Ph.D. Graduate College Faculty Representative Kathryn Hausbeck Korgan, Ph.D. Vice Provost for Graduate Education & Dean of the Graduate College

#### Abstract

# FACTORS AFFECTING HOTEL RECOMMENDATION: BEFORE THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC AND AFTER THE REOPENING

By

Boran Kim Dr. Jungsun (Sunny) Kim, Committee Chair Associate Professor of Hospitality University of Nevada, Las Vegas

During the COVID-19 pandemic, numerous people lost their lives, and a lot of industries were affected (The World Health Organization, 2021). The hospitality industry was affected the most and 70% of hotel employees lost their jobs (Wang et al., 2021). In the United States, the hotels and resorts had to close due to an executive order (Barti et al., 2020). After a few months, when hotels reopened, the industry had to face challenges due to social distancing, travel restrictions, and safety issues (Gursoy & Chi, 2020). During that time, not only did customers' expectations change but also their recommendation of the hotels to friends and colleagues changed (Miao et al., 2021).

There are several previous studies that found out which factors made customers recommend hotels to others, but none of the studies had determined which factors were affecting guests' hotel recommendations after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic. The study used secondary data (online surveys) from one of the well-known integrated resorts located in the western United States. Data was collected in June of 2019, before the COVID-19 pandemic, and in June of 2021, after a one year from the reopening from the pandemic closure. The key variables are cleanliness, location, room, service, and value. From the findings, hotel managers can determine what the hotels can do to increase guest recommendations after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.

Abstractiii
List of Tablesvii
List of Figuresviii
Chapter 11
Introduction1
Justification and Background1
Theoretical Background3
Problem Statement
Research Questions5
Purpose of the Study5
Significance of the Study6
Delimitations7
Limitations7
Definition of Terms
Chapter 210
Review of Literature10
History of Pandemics and Economics Impact11
People's Behavior and Lifestyle Change During the COVID-19 Pandemic12
COVID-19's Impact on the Hospitality Industry14
Word-of-Mouth16
Theoretical Background17
Service Quality Model17

# **Table of Contents**

Servicescape Model	19
Hypotheses Development	21
Effect of Cleanliness on Guest Recommendation	21
Effect of Location on Guest Recommendation	23
Effect of Room on Guest Recommendation	24
Effect of Service on Guest Recommendation	25
Effect of Value on Guest Recommendation	27
Chapter 3	31
Methodology	31
Research Questions	31
Methodology Selection	31
Multiple Linear Regression	32
Random Forest in Machine Learning	32
Secondary Data	33
Data Collection	33
Study Participants	34
Biases	35
Ethical Concerns	35
Summary	35
Chapter 4	
Results	
Demographic Profile of the Respondents	
Multiple Linear Regression Analysis	44

Random Forest Analysis	45
Support for Hypotheses	46
Summary	47
Chapter 5	58
Discussion and Implications	58
Discussion of Findings	58
Theoretical Implications	59
Practical Implications	62
Limitations and Future Research	65
Summary	67
References	68
Curriculum Vitae	

# List of Tables

Table 1 Summary of Hypotheses	30
Table 2 Survey Items	7
Table 3 Demographic of Respondents in 2019	41
Table 4 Demographic of Respondents in 2021	12
Table 5 Model Summary (June 2019)4	8
Table 6 Model Summary (June 2021)4	8
Table 7 Multiple Linear Regression Coefficients with VIF for Each Predictor (June 2019)4	9
Table 8 Multiple Linear Regression Coefficients with VIF for Each Predictor (June 2021)4	9
Table 9 % IncMSE (June 2019)	55
Table 10 % IncMSE (June 2021)	56
Table 11 Results of Testing Hypotheses	57

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Research Model	29
Figure 2. Box Plot of Age for June 2019 and June 2021	43
Figure 3. Correlation Matrix (June 2019)	50
Figure 4. Correlation Matrix (June 2021)	51
Figure 5. Histogram (June 2019)5	52
Figure 6. Scatterplot (June 2019)	52
Figure 7. Histogram (June 2021)5	53
Figure 8. Scatterplot (June 2021)	53
Figure 9. P-P Plot (June 2019)	54
Figure 10. P-P Plot (June 2021)	54
Figure 11. Variable Importance Plots of Significant Predictors in Regression (June 2019)5	55
Figure 12. Variable Importance Plots of Significant Predictors in Regression (June 2021)5	56

#### Chapter 1

#### Introduction

The first chapter included eight sections. The first section introduced the justification and background of the study. Problem statements and research questions were provided in the second and third sections. The purpose and significance of the study were introduced in the fourth and fifth sections. The sixth and seven areas discussed delimitation and limitations. Lastly, the definitions of terms were provided.

### **Justification and Background**

In 2019, COVID-19 was first found in Wuhan, China, and it spread quickly into different countries including the Americas, Europe, South-East Asia, Eastern Mediterranean, Western Pacific, and Africa (WHO, 2021; Zheng et al., 2021). By 2020, more than 80% of countries have closed their borders, stopped issuing visas, suspended flights, and proposed travel restrictions (Barti et al., 2020). Based on other research, when the pandemic started, the hospitality industry got hit faster than other industries, and it took a long time for it to begin to recover (Nicola et al., 2020; Zheng et al., 2021). This is not the first pandemic that people faced. In 2003, when there was a SARS virus outbreak, over three million people who used to work in the hospitality industry industry lost their jobs (Zheng et al., 2021). After SARS, people's lifestyles also changed; for example, they embraced outdoor activities and eco-tourism (Miao et al., 2021; Wen et al., 2021).

According to WHO (2021), more than 222 million COVID-19 cases have been confirmed globally including four million deaths. In addition, international tourists' arrival decreased by 85% from January to May 2021 compared to 2019 (UNWTO, 2021). America lost 72% of tourist arrivals, Europe lost 85%, Africa lost 81%, the Middle East lost 83%, Asia and the Pacific lost

95% of travelers. On top of that, international tourism lost around US\$1.1 trillion in export revenues (UNWTO, 2021).

Zheng et al. (2021) stated that due to COVID-19, the hospitality industry lost their customers, and travel fear made people not want to travel. However, when people traveled, they protected themselves from health risks more than before. After vaccines being distributed, many people are eager to travel, however their ideas and thoughts about travel and hotels might have changed due to the pandemic and public fear (Roche, 2021; Zheng et al., 2021). As previous research discovered, people like to travel to cities that have a low number of COVID-19 cases, where they can feel safe and not exposed to the risk of the virus (Gursoy et al., 2020). Generally, guests are not familiar with the travel location, and they like to see the online reviews or hear experience from others (Vermeulen & Seegers, 2009). Selecting hotels was always an important decision for them (Miao et al., 2021). When they booked hotels, they considered hotel comfort factors and hotel compensatory factors (Sohrabi et al., 2012). Hotel comfort factors include hotel staff and their services, pleasure, car parking, room comport, room cleanliness, and network service (Sohrabi et al., 2012). Hotel compensatory factors include expenditure, security, protection, and recreational information (Sohrabi et al., 2012). Therefore, most people tend to look at hotel reviews or ask for recommendations before they book hotels (Kim & Hardin, 2010; Vermeulen & Seegers, 2009). When they do, they will be able to have a second experience and make a good decision for booking hotels (Vermeulen & Seegers, 2009; Wen et al., 2021). Some guests recommend hotels and leave positive reviews, but some leave negative reviews based on their stay (Barreda & Bilgihan, 2013; Vermeulen & Seegers, 2009). Therefore, it is essential to know which factors affect guests to recommend hotels to others after the reopening on June 4<sup>th</sup>, 2020, from the shutdown.

#### **Theoretical Background**

The theoretical backgrounds of this study are the service quality model and servicescape model. First, the service quality model is based on the customer expectation about service and perceived service (Gronroos, 1984). After most hotels reopened from their closures in the U.S in June 2020 (Stuz, 2020), guests have different expectations of hotels, and based on services that they receive from hotels, they may or may not recommend hotels. Second, the servicescape model determined that people act differently depending on the physical environment (Bitner, 1992). Guests may recommend hotels to others based on the physical environment, which are hotel rooms and location. From the findings, hotels and management teams can estimate what makes guests recommend hotels to friends and colleagues. Moreover, they will understand the status quo, guest preferences, and thoughts about hotels after the reopening.

The current study will be beneficial for the hospitality industry, including hotels, resorts, and Airbnb. Since the study will compare the determinants of guests' recommendations before and after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic, the hospitality industry can also understand the recent travel trends. By knowing the factors influencing guests' hotel recommendations after the reopening, hotels can effectively increase occupancy rates and take care of their guests well. Most importantly, when hotels can concentrate on the influential factors, it will help the hospitality industry to recover faster. Guests would rather travel and stay in hotels where they can fulfill their needs (Sohrabi et al., 2012). That is, by applying these factors as a priority, hotels will be able to recover faster and attract more guests.

#### **Problem Statement**

COVID-19 brought adverse effects in numerous industries and businesses (Barti et al., 2020). It is known that due to the pandemic, the hospitality industry was paused for growth

(Nicola et al., 2020). However, it is not known which factors affect guests to recommend hotels after the reopening. Dube and Black (2010) discovered that traumatic events led people's behavior change and thoughts. In 2001, when the terrorists attached the United States, Americans were panicked and changed their behaviors in several ways. First, people cared about a product quality more than before. Second, they considered about time management more than before because they were uncertain about their security and longevity. Third, they reevaluated their priorities which means they started to think about their family as number one priority. Therefore, from the COVID-19 pandemic, people might change their expectations about hotels and consider different factors before they recommend a hotel to others. In the past, there was no such time in history that all the hotels were closed due to an executive order (Stepleton, 2020).

After the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic, many hotels were uncertain how to keep guests safe from COVID-19, and the situation was challenged (Gursoy & Chi, 2020). Numerous hotels developed safety health plans to keep their employees and customers safe from COVID-19 (Gursoy & Chi, 2020; MGM Resorts International, 2020). According to Gursoy et al. (2020), in 2021, over 50% of customers stated that they are unwilling to travel and stay at hotels soon, and only around 33% of customers responded that they like to travel and stay at hotels. Most people did not feel comfortable traveling, and 18% said they preferred to travel to a destination that only has a few COVID-19 cases, offering tests and providing isolation when needed. Also, 40% of people said they would pay more to stay at hotels that provide safety precautions.

Since safety is essential during COVID-19, several hotels announced safety plans and one of the well-known Las Vegas resorts developed the seven-point safety plan (MGM Resorts International, 2020). The purpose of the plan is to keep everyone safe and not spread the virus

(MGM Resorts International, 2020). According to Chan and Lam (2013), guests consider safety as one of the critical components when they make hotel booking decisions, and based on the safety plan, hotel guests will recommend the hotels to friends and colleagues.

After the reopening, guests' expectations about hotel stay and consumption needs might differ because their lifestyle and travel preferences have changed (Wen et al., 2021; Zenker & Kock, 2020). Not only safety is an important component, but also other factors affect guests' hotel recommendations to others such as their friends and colleagues. COVID-19 was a big issue in the hospitality industry in all countries, and it is vital to know how to overcome challenges and behave well. Therefore, this research will guide the hospitality industry to understand which factors affect guests to recommend hotels before the COVID-19 pandemic and after the reopening.

#### **Research Questions**

This study answers the following research questions:

 Which factors affect guests to recommend a hotel to others before the COVID-19 pandemic?
Which factors affect guests to recommend a hotel to others after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic?

3. What can hotels do to increase guest recommendations after the reopening?

#### **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this study is to discover which factors affect guest hotel recommendations before the COVID-19 pandemic and after the reopening from the pandemic, more specifically as follows:

1. Determine what factors affect guests' hotel recommendations before the COVID-19 pandemic.

2. Determine what factors affect guests' hotel recommendations after the reopening from COVID-19 pandemic.

3. Compare and contrast factors affecting guests' willingness to recommend a hotel to others before and after the reopening from COVID-19 pandemic.

This study uses secondary data (i.e., surveys data), and respondents are guests who stayed at an integrated resort located in the western United States during June 2019 (before the pandemic) and June 2021 (after the pandemic). Total 169 guests responded to the survey in June 2019 and 212 guests completed the survey in June 2021. Respondents are over 21 who are from the United States. The key variables are cleanliness, location, room, service, and value. The independent variable is the recommendations of the hotel. From the findings, the hotels will understand which factors affect guests most to recommend the hotels to others after the reopening. Furthermore, it will lead hotels to get many recommendations and increase guests' satisfaction.

#### Significance of the Study

This research contributes to both theoretical and practical knowledge of the likelihood of hotel recommendations to friends and colleagues. From a theoretical perspective, this study is unique as it compares the factors affecting hotel recommendations before the COVID-19 pandemic and after the reopening. The study used service quality model and servicescape model to provide a comprehensive understanding of which factors affect guests to recommend hotels to others after the reopening. Berry et al. (1988) stated that the service quality model demonstrates how to achieve desired quality in service, and it includes five dimensions including reliability, assurance, empathy, and responsiveness. Bitner (1992) developed the servicescape model, and this model defined that people change their behaviors depending on the environment. It includes

ambient condition, space/function, and signs, symbols, and artifacts. In this study, room and cleanliness are associated with this model.

This research is necessary because COVID-19 negatively impacted the hospitality industry (Wang et al., 2021), and people's travel styles have changed (Wen et al., 2021). For more than a year, numerous people could not travel due to travel restrictions (Gursoy & Chi, 2020), but now some countries have changed the travel rule due to vaccines being distributed (Roche, 2021). From a practical standpoint, the results of this study can allow hotels to provide high-quality service based on guest preferences. From the findings, hotels will understand guest preferences, ways to build a good relationship with guests, and increase revenue to overcome the loss that they had during pandemic closure. Overall, hotels will be able to operate hotels well to receive more positive guest recommendations.

#### Delimitation

The study includes three delimitations. First, the data was collected from guests who stayed at an integrated resort in the western United States instead of getting data from several resorts. Second, the study used survey data that were taken in June of 2019 and 2021 only, instead of utilizing all months. Third, the survey was not based on open-ended questions; therefore, the guests might have various opinions regarding factors affecting hotel recommendations.

#### Limitations

There are limitations to this study. First, every pandemic is unlike, and it could cause different effects in the hospitality industry (Zheng et al., 2021). Thus, it is difficult to clarify that hotels need to focus on the finding of this study to receive positive recommendations with other future pandemics. Second, each country faced different challenges due to the difference in

COVID-19 case numbers, executive orders, and rules (Barti et al., 2020; UNWTO, 2020).

Therefore, it might be difficult to say that these factors affect guest hotel recommendations in all the countries and cities. The subsequent study can focus on other industries that were affected, different types of pandemics, geographic areas, time, and type of resorts. Lastly, since at the time of writing the COVID-19 pandemic is still an ongoing crisis and there are some COVID-19 variance viruses, the literature on the subject is still limited.

#### **Definitions of Terms**

The following terms have specific operational definitions and are utilized in this research. *Cleanliness*: It is a physical aspect, and there is a criterion. There should be no organic or inorganic noticeable stains on objects, and they should be free from germs, trash, and dirt (Zemke et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2020). On top of that, whoever cleans the area should understand what specific surfaces were touched a lot during guests' hotel stays (Park et al., 2019).

*Location*: The area that is close to the airport, numerous transportations, and tourist attractions are considered a good location for tourists (Latinopoulos, 2020).

*Room*: Room in this study includes the room size, interior design, decoration, furniture, lighting, and artwork (Sadhale & Sathe, 2021).

*Service*: It is a non-physical aspect which is intangible, variable, inseparable, and temporary during a hotel stay (Zhang et al., 2020). It includes some characteristics such as staff skills, service attitudes, knowledge, and friendliness (Shao, 2017).

*Value*: Guests received the tangible or intangible product or service for the price (Bojanic, 1996). When guests pay lower prices, they tend not to expect high service or product. In contrast, when they pay high prices, they expect high service or product (Bojanic, 1996).

*Recommendation*: Guests express their positive opinions based on their experience and share their thoughts with others (Veloso et al., 2019). The other guests use this recommendation for future planning and booking (Veloso et al., 2019).

*Word-of-Mouth*: Guests share their hotel experience and opinions with others (Hernández, 2015; Wang et al., 2015). The other guests use this information source before they make a hotel reservation (Litvin et al., 2008).

#### **Chapter 2**

#### **Review of Literature**

Previous chapter mentioned that COVID-19 pandemic brought negative impacts on the hospitality industry. Many people changed their travel behaviors and lifestyles. They started to avoid places where many people gathered and were more concerned about their health than before the COVID-19 pandemic. When they made a hotel reservation, they preferred to read reviews from others or hear experiences to make a better booking decision. Therefore, this study will research which factors are affecting guests to recommend a hotel to others before the COVID-19 pandemic and after the reopening from the closure. The following review of literature will address six key areas of this research topic: (1) history of pandemics and economic impact, (2) people's behavior and lifestyle change during the COVID-19 pandemic, (3) COVID-19 impact on the hospitality industry, (4) word-of-mouth, (5) theoretical background including service quality model and servicescape model, and (6) hypotheses development.

The first section discusses the history of pandemics and economic impact. These past years, there were 19 major pandemics (World Economic Forum, 2020). Each pandemic impacted the economy but differently; thus, it is important to know how the economy recovered (Brodeur et al., 2020). The second section looks at the changes in people's physical health, psychological health, behavior, lifestyle, and reaction during the COVID-19 pandemic. During this period, people had to adopt the changes and it affected them negatively (Chen et al., 2020; Serafini et al., 2020; Shamshiripour et al., 2020). Most countries announced that COVID-19 was a pandemic and people's lives were changed and were not the same as before the pandemic (Rubin & Wessely, 2020). The third section describes how and why the hospitality industry crashed (Zheng et al., 2021). The most recent pandemic, COVID-19 brought tremendous negative

impacts on the hospitality industry because of interventions (Zheng et al., 2021). People could not travel, which in turn negatively impacted hotel occupancy and revenue (UNWTO, 2021). Also, numerous people who used to work at hotels lost their jobs (Aharon et al., 2021), but they also did not want to go back to work after the reopening from the pandemic (Williams, 2021). The fourth section explains about word-of-mouth. It effects on guests' booking behaviors and positive word-of-mouth bring positive view about hotels (Hussain et al., 2017). The fifth section describes this study's main theoretical backgrounds which are the service quality model and servicescape model. Based on these models, the 15 hypotheses of this study develop in the sixth section.

#### **History of Pandemics and Economics Impact**

When the population increases, diseases start to appear, and it becomes a constant problem in the world (World Economic Forum, 2020). In human history, there have been diverse pandemic events, and ever since the year 2000, there were more frequent virus outbreaks (Brodeur et al., 2020). This is because people were interacting with animals and other ecosystems, living together in large cities, and having trades with other countries (Brodeur et al., 2020; World Economic Forum, 2020).

According to the World Economic Forum (2020), after the year 1900, the major pandemics were Spanish Flu (1918-1919), Asian Flu (1957-1958), Hong Kong Flu (1968-1970), HIV/AIDS (1981-present), Swine Flu (2009-2010), SARS (2002-2003), Ebola (2014-2016), MERS (2015-present), and COVID-19 (2020-present). In 1918, the world had a difficult time due to the 1918 Spanish influenza pandemic, and after that, COVID-19 was the most serious pandemic (Ferguson et al., 2020). Pandemics always made people's lives difficult and created systemic economic shock (World bank group, 2020). Economies were forecasted to fall by seven percent in 2020, as widespread social distances, a shrinking of financial conditions, and a collapse in external demand depressed activity (World bank group, 2020).

Brodeur et al. (2020), Brodeur et al. (2021), and Jonas (2013) stated that during the flu pandemics, two major reasons caused the economic crisis. First, social distancing and avoidance reactions caused a crisis. When people heard the pandemic news, they slowly reduced person-toperson contact. This followed the significant reduction in supply and demand. Also, when there was social distancing, lots of public gatherings got reduced, and public places were closed. Social distancing helped people to not distribute the virus, but it brought negative effects on economics. Second, the direct and indirect costs of diseases caused the crisis. Direct cost includes hospitalization and medical costs. When many people got viruses, it was difficult to take care of them all at the same time due to not having enough hospitals or medicine. Indirect costs includes businesses losing their workers and production. All these direct and indirect costs brought negative effects on the economy.

#### People's Behavior and Lifestyle Change During the COVID-19 Pandemic

COVID-19 changed people's physical health, psychological health, behavior, lifestyle, and reaction (Chen et al., 2020; Serafini et al., 2020; Shamshiripour et al., 2020; WHO, 2021). It was a threat and became a pandemic due to fast increasing case numbers (Barti et al., 2020). The government announced interventions such as social distancing, travel restrictions, and closure of public places (Barti et al., 2020). To contain the virus spread, the government had to issue these executive orders (WHO, 2020). According to Bezerra et al. (2020), 75.8% of people believed that social isolation would help to reduce COVID-19 case numbers.

The most recent pandemic, COVID-19, was first found in Wuhan, China in December 2019, and numerous people started to have symptoms of the virus (Zhu et al., 2020). People

experienced fever, headache, dry cough, tiredness, sore throat, loss of smell and taste (WHO, 2020). In late December 2019, other countries started to report that they had similar symptoms in their patients (Zhu et al., 2020). As time went by, it spread quickly, and most COVID-19 cases were confirmed by the Americas, Europe, South-East Asia, Eastern Mediterranean, Western Pacific, and Africa (WHO, 2021). COVID-19 got transmitted from person to person, by touching some objects or materials that were infected by a person who had the virus (WHO, 2020). As of October 2021, case numbers keep increasing due to virus variants. The World Health Organization (2021) defined that more than 219 million COVID-19 cases have been confirmed globally including 4.5 million deaths. Some people did not lose their lives but experienced brain hypoxia, carbon dioxide retention, edema, vascular dysfunction, and other morbid changes in their bodies (Wang et al., 2020).

COVID-19 brought psychological impacts to adults and children (Chen et al., 2020). During the pandemic, a lot of people started to have their anxiety because of family and friends' deaths due to the virus and heard of a high number of confirmed cases by the media (Rubin & Wessely, 2020). All the interventions including lockdown, stay at home, and social isolation, made people feel more uncomfortable than usual (Chen et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020). They felt sad, angry, lonely, anxious, bored, worried, and stressed because suddenly they had to adapt to the pandemic situation (Chen et al., 2020; Serafini et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020). When they were isolated at home, they were unable to enjoy outdoor hobbies, uncertain about their future, and unable to make plans for their lives (Parady et al., 2020; Serafini et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020). On top of that, most of the people could not go back to work or meet other people to socialize (Serafini et al., 2020). Since they stayed at home for a long period of time, they felt fear

of job loss and financial insecurity (Khan et al., 2021). When there is financial hardship, people get the most stressed which harms their mental health (Kahn et al., 2021).

According to Shamshiripour et al. (2020), people changed their lives and behaviors due to COVID-19. These changes in behaviors manifested themselves in the hospitality industry in several ways. First, many people got furloughed, started to work from home, and utilized online meetings instead of face-to-face meetings. Second, people started to enjoy online shopping more than in-store shopping. People even ordered their groceries online. Third, with all social distancing, stay-at-home orders, and interventions required people to change their travel styles (Zheng et al., 2021). People thought several times before they planned for a trip and showed protective behavior about travel decisions (Miao et al., 2021). More than 50% of people stated that due to COVID-19, they canceled or delayed their trips because they were uncertain about traveling (Butler, 2020; Parady et al., 2020). People became reluctant to travel and stay at hotels because they thought hotels were places where diverse people interact together; thus, they thought if they travel, they have a high chance of transmitting a virus (Shamshiripour et al., 2020; WHO, 2020). Moreover, 43% of people stated that they neither felt comfortable nor safe taking planes to travel because airplane spaces were small and had to be shared with others (Butler, 2020; Parady et al., 2020).

#### **COVID-19's Impact on the Hospitality Industry**

COVID-19 slumped the hospitality industry's growth and suspended the growth (Nicola et al., 2020). The hospitality industry is one of the major economic sectors and is very sensitive to natural hazards like pandemics (Dube et al., 2021). China first discovered COVID-19, and its hospitality industry experienced negative effects first (Aharon et al., 2021). During the other pandemics, the hospitality industry experienced a large economic impact, financial losses, and it

took a long time to recover (Tanna, 2020; Zemke et al., 2015). One of the main issues was a low hotel occupancy (Zheng et al., 2021). Hotels experienced a significant hotel occupancy rate dropping by 89% by the end of January 2020 and a loss of over US\$9 billion in revenue (Aharon et al., 2021; Nicola et al., 2020). Europe lost almost one-billion-Euro revenue every month (Duarte et al., 2020). United States hotels lost about \$83.7 billion in room revenue in 2020 and \$51.2 billion in 2021 compared to 2019 (Aharon et al., 2021).

Throughout history, there was no such time that all Las Vegas hotels closed except during the COVID-19 pandemic (Gursoy & Chi, 2020). MGM Resorts is one of the biggest resorts in Las Vegas with numerous properties on the Strip and they temporarily suspended all hotel operations on March 16th, 2020, for the first time due to government regulation (Stepleton, 2020). After 78 days, some properties reopened, but they had to set the 25% of capacity limitations and followed COVID-19 guidelines by the governor (Stuz, 2020). Due to all the rules and regulations, they could not operate hotels the same as before the pandemic (Stuz, 2020).

Before the pandemic, the hospitality industry was creating numerous jobs for people because the industry was growing and many people were traveling (Aharon et al., 2021). However, due to the pandemic, instead of creating jobs, 62 million hospitality employees lost jobs (Aharon et al., 2021). One of the well-known hotel brands, Marriott International furloughed about 174,000 employees and Hilton Worldwide borrowed 1.75 billion dollars to operate their business (Nicola et al., 2020). Moreover, when MGM resorts suspended the operations, it furloughed 62,000 employees, and after the reopening they did not bring 18,000 employees back due to business demand (Staff, 2020). Even though hotels called employees to come back to work, many employees declined (Aharon et al., 2021; Staff, 2020). This is because

the hospitality industry was not the same as before the COVID-19 pandemic and employees were worried about their health (Aharon et al., 2021; Staff, 2020).

Many people had to cancel their trips or hold on to their travel plans during the COVID-19 pandemic because of health threat, and infectious diseases at a travel location (Gursoy & Chi, 2020; Zemke et al., 2015). However, people started to travel when vaccines were distributed, and there was no limited occupancy for hotels (Chang et al., 2021; Roche, 2021; Zheng et al., 2021). As times went by, hotels started to pick up occupancy, and they needed to rehire many employees to run the hotels; however, it was not easy to hire them (Chang & Chang, 2021; Williams, 2021). Especially, numerous hotel housekeeping departments had a difficult time compared to other departments due to a shortage of staff (Levtchenko, 2020). They were overwhelmed and had tremendous pressure because they needed deep cleaning of all areas (Levtchenko, 2020). Chang and Chang (2021) stated that there are three reasons why it was difficult to hire hotel employees. First, hotels were the place where a lot of tourists gathered. As a result, people did not feel safe to work. Second, the government had many support programs; therefore, even though people did not have a job, they were able to live. Third, more than a year into the pandemic, some people started to rethink their careers and lives. Some people started to go to school or learn other skills and find other jobs. As a result, numerous hotels struggled to fill positions even as the demand grew (Williams, 2021).

#### Word-of-Mouth

When people travel, they want to make a good hotel booking decision (Sohrabi et al., 2012). Since service is invisible and intangible, people tend to rely on the recommendations more (Vermeulen & Seegers, 2009). There are some people who like to share their opinions regarding about products or services and this helps others to know products or service

information (Hernández, 2015). Word-of-mouth effects on guests' buying behaviors and it plays an important role before they make a purchase decision (Kowatsch & Maass, 2010). Also, products value increase based on positive word-of-mouth or recommendations from sellers or other customers (Kowatsch & Maass, 2010). Word-of-mouth became one of the effective marketing strategies due to a low cost and fast delivery (Trusov et al., 2009). Especially, it is an important factor in the hospitality industry because guests like to hear about other's experiences before they make a booking decision (Hussain et al., 2017). According to Cantallops and Salvi (2014), word-of-mouth mainly impacts on customers in three ways. First, customers reduce the risk of making a wrong booking decision. Second, customers improve their attitudes towards to a hotel because guests are aware of hotel. Third, guests can compare hotel information easily and it help them to make a good decision booking process. Since word-of-mouth impacts on guests' booking decisions, hotels need to make sure to satisfied guests and gain positive word-of-mouth (Hussain et al., 2017; Rajagura & Hassanli, 2017).

#### **Theoretical Background**

This study utilizes two models such as service quality model and servicecape model. Service quality is influenced by several factors including producers, guests, places, and day. Service providers may provide different services to customers based on their experiences, abilities, and tools (Mosadeghrad, 2011). Furthermore, servicecape is influenced by physical environment, atmospherics, and decorations (Bitner, 1992).

#### **Service Quality Model**

Service quality is the most important fundamental in the hospitality industry (Ali et al., 2021; Anwar, 2017; Bonjanic, 1996). In service organizations, it is important to provide good services constantly because it is profitable (Berry et al., 1988). Providing good services all the

time and measuring good or bad services is not easy because service can be invisible and intangible (Ali et al., 2021). According to Berry et al. (1988), depending on the employees and days, service quality can change because it occurs when employees deliver the service to guests. The service quality model can be defined as people's anticipation of service providers and their thoughts about services that they received (Ali et al., 2021; Bonjanic, 1996; Gronroos, 1984; Berry et al., 1988). Berry et al. (1988) defined that service quality models can also be an equation as SQ= P-E. SQ is service quality, P is the guests' sense of given service and E is guests' expectation of given service. Moreover, the SERVQUAL research design helps to measure service quality. The dimensions include reliability, assurance, tangibles, empathy, and responsiveness.

According to Ali et al. (2021), the first dimension is reliability, and it applies when hotels provide accurate services or solve problems at the right time. Reliability is important during check-in time. When staff can check-in guests at check-in time by providing an accurate room type those guests book for without making mistakes, guests will be satisfied. Also, during check-out time, when staff can fix billing issues or resolve complaints about their stay in a short time, guests will think that they are receiving good services. The second dimension is assurance, and it defines providing employees' knowledgeable service to guests. This helps guests to trust hotels more and can make guests think that what they paid is valuable and worthy. When guests ask questions about information, including hotel facilities, restaurant hours, tours, transportations, and staff provide the right information quickly, guests feel that what they paid is worth it. The third dimension is tangibility, and it includes hotel facilities, location, and cleanliness of rooms. This can give the first impression about hotels to guests and can give an image that these hotels can provide good services to guests. The fourth dimension is empathy, and it shows employees

care and attention towards guests. When guests complain and employees listen and understand situations, guests feel happy. The fifth dimension is responsiveness, and it explains how the staff is willing to assist guests with their requests and response. When guests request special amenities or upgrades that staff can honor, guests will be satisfied with exceptional services. The reliability, assurance, empathy, responsiveness, and dimensions are associated with the service variables in this study. The tangibles dimension is related to the room, location, cleanliness, and location dimensions. All five dimensions can affect guest ratings on the quality of services they received, compared to the amount they paid to stay at a hotel (i.e., value).

Overall, service quality affects guest satisfaction (Radojevic et al., 2017; Tefera et al., 2016). When hotels fulfill guests' expectations and provide outstanding services, they will be satisfied and will recommend hotels to others (Anwar, 2017; Gronroos, 1984). Once guests are satisfied with services, it brings numerous advantages to hotels such as having a good relationship with guests, gaining loyalty, attracting more customers, and increasing hotel revenue (Radojevic et al., 2017).

#### **Servicescape Model**

Bitner (1992) stated that the physical environment, atmospherics, and decorations influence guests' satisfaction, guest behavior, and social interactions between guests and employees. The physical setting is important because it can influence customer satisfaction without employees providing services to them (Bitner, 1992). The interesting fact about physical settings is that they can be changed and managed by people (Bitner, 1992). Once the physical setting is changed, it might attract guests to visit or make them avoid the place (Bitner, 1992). The servicescape includes the following: (1) spatial layout, (2) ambient conditions, (3) signs, symbols, and artifacts. First, spatial layout includes furniture arrangement and room layout.

Second, ambient conditions include air quality, smell, noise, temperature, and lighting. Air quality is a cleanliness variable in this servicescape model because some hotels allow guests to smoke, and non-smokers do not like smoky air quality. Some guests think casino hotels are too smoky, which means they have a negative thought about air quality (Lucas, 2008). Third, signs, symbols and artifacts include room decorations, colors, and designs (Bitner, 1992; Lin, 2004). This is related to room condition in this study. Bellizzi and Hite (1992) discovered that colors and lights affect personal moods and emotions. A physical environment that has warm and bright color backgrounds attract more customers than a place that was decorated with dark colors (Bellizzi & Hite, 1992). Also, when a room's ceiling is high, furniture is laid out well, the interior is fancy with luxurious decorations and meets guests' standards, it influences guests' overall hotel experience and makes them feel satisfied (Lin, 2004; Line & Hanks, 2019). The spatial layout, ambient conditions, signs, symbols, and artifacts are associated with the room and cleanliness variables in this study. When guests stay in clean rooms in a good condition, their behaviors change, they feel satisfied with their stay and like to share the experience with others (Litvin et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2015). Therefore, these variables in the servicescape model can affect guests to recommend hotels to others (Line et al., 2019).

When guests are satisfied, they like to recommend their experience to others (Litvin et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2015). Word-of-mouth is the most important component when customers purchase products or book hotel rooms (Litvin et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2015). Line et al. (2019) discovered that, based on the servicescape model, when a customer is satisfied with hotels, they are likely to spread positive word-of-mouth about the hotels. Especially in the hospitality industry, new guests tend to rely on others' opinions because others already experienced services

(Vermeulen & Seegers, 2009). At the end of the day, guests' satisfaction will make them circulate positive word-of-mouth (Litvin et al., 2008).

#### **Hypotheses Development**

Past research has proven that customer satisfaction is a paramount factor in the hospitality industry to gain customer loyalty, have a good relationship with guests, increase hotel revenue, and attract more customers and receive positive word-of-mouth and reviews (Ali et al., 20201; Radojevic et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2017). Based on the service quality model by Berry et al. (1988), when hotels provide exceptional services and meet guests' expectations, guests will be satisfied and recommend hotels to others (Litvin et al., 2008; Radojevic et al., 2017). Guests might think cleanliness, location, room, service, and value are important factors during their hotel experience. After the reopening from COVID-19, guests still might consider those five factors before they recommend hotels, but it is unsure. Therefore, the study developed this study developed following 15 hypotheses.

#### **Effect of Cleanliness on Guest Recommendation**

Room cleanliness has been a core factor and basic expectation for guests (Barber & Scarcelli, 2010; Sharma & Kaushik, 2021; Zemke et al., 2015). Clean hotel rooms affect guest satisfaction and their consumption behaviors (Barreda & Bilgihan, 2013). Researchers found that when hotel room cleanliness meets guests' expectations, their satisfaction increases, and when cleanliness does not meet their expectation, they will have a negative impression. They also revealed that people wrote negative reviews more frequently when their hotel rooms were not clean during their stay (Barreda & Bilgihan, 2013). Moreover, during hotel stays, most guests complained about cleanliness to hotel staff because their rooms were not clean (Barreda &

Bilgihan, 2013; Zemke et al., 2015). Some guests stated that they would pay a premium price to get disinfection guaranteed clean rooms (Zemke et al., 2015).

It is a known fact that hotels are areas where many people share places, interact with each other, and touch the same surfaces (Park et al., 2019; WHO, 2020). After the reopening from the pandemic, 5,800 out of 10,000 (58.4%) people stated that they want to know what hotels are doing to protect them from virus outbreaks (Butler, 2020). Although cleanliness was an important component (Lockyer, 2005) before book hotels, now it has become a more important component (Sharma & Kaushik, 2021; Wachyuni & Kusumaningrum, 2020). The housekeeping department agreed that COVID-19 made them think that clinically cleaning all areas is essential and safety is a priority (Sharma & Kaushik, 2021). Therefore, a lot of hotels announced new cleaning and sanitization procedures to protect and give a safe impression to guests (Levtchenko, 2020). One of the brand hotels, Wyndham Hotels and Resorts partnered with Ecolab and announced, "Stay Safe" which promised guests that safety is first (Hotels by Wyndham, 2021). Wyndham trained their employees to use EPA registered disinfectants to clean rooms, and other public areas (Hotels by Wyndham, 2021). After the reopening from the pandemic, people demanded cleanliness more than before and it affected a hotel's image (Atadil & Lu, 2021; Sharma & Kaushik, 2021). Therefore, the current study expects that after the reopening from the pandemic, it is more important to keep rooms and facilities clean to make guests feel satisfied and recommend hotels to others. Based on the aforementioned theories and prior studies, the following hypotheses were advanced:

H1a: Guests' satisfaction with hotel cleanliness had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel before the COVID-19 pandemic.

H1b: Guests' satisfaction with hotel cleanliness had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.

H1c: The effect of guests' satisfaction with hotel cleanliness on their willingness to recommend the hotel is stronger after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.

#### **Effect of Location on Guest Recommendation**

Nowadays, hotel locations are one of the tangible attributes because people can research about surrounding areas of hotels and overview in advance (Melinas et al., 2019). According to Latinopoulos (2020) and Yang et al. (2018), convenient location is an important factor for guests with the following reasons: accessibility to points of interest, easy access for transport, and surrounding environment. It is not only an important factor for hotel guests but also essential for hotels to be successful in the short and long term for operation and logistics. When people travel, they are uncertain about the city's location. However, when a hotel is located in the center of the city, guests perceive that it is comfortable because they have accessibility to points of interest. Guests have a chance to maximize the utility of the city and can visit many places without spending much time. A good location has easy access to transportation and guests can utilize different transportations. Having the availability of both public and private transportation makes a big difference during a hotel stay.

Butler (2020) reported that about 50% out of 10,000 people stated that when they made a hotel reservation, they wanted to know how COVID-19 was affecting the local area. The pandemic made people prefer to travel to destinations that only have a few COVID-19 cases and offer tests and provide isolation when needed (Gursoy et al., 2020). Huang et al. (2020) discovered that when people traveled during the COVID-19 pandemic, they would rather walk, ride bicycles, and take personal cars to avoid the risk of contacting other people. They also

preferred to travel to their original destination where it was close to their city (>300km). In addition, guests wanted to hear positive stories about a local area (Butler, 2020). It explains that guests would rather stay in hotels that have good neighbors and a safe surrounding environment (Yang et al., 2018). When guests are dissatisfied with the location, they will leave negative reviews and ratings (Melinas et al., 2019). In sum, after the reopening from the pandemic, it is possible that hotel locations played a more important role in positive customer reviews and recommendations to others. Accordingly, this study proposed the following hypotheses:

H2a: Guests' satisfaction with hotel location had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel before the COVID-19 pandemic.

H2b: Guests' satisfaction with hotel location had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.

H2c: The effect of guests' satisfaction with hotel location on their willingness to recommend the hotel is stronger after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.

#### **Effect of Room on Guest Recommendation**

Bitner (1992) stated that the physical environment influences people's behavior. When guests walk into beautiful rooms, it creates a good impression (Obinwanne & Alozie, 2019). Hotel rooms are taking a major part in hotel business because it affects hotel's performance, high revenue, and guests' hotel experience (Kuang & Zhang, 2017; Siguaw & Enz, 1999). To keep a high occupancy rate, hotels need to keep updating and remodeling their rooms (Kuang & Zhang, 2017). Nowadays, well-decorated hotel rooms stand out more than standard design rooms (Kuang & Zhang, 2017). Design and interior include lights, floors, ceiling, walls, and windows (Obinwanne & Alozie, 2019). Hotels can control room designs and conditions to provide a fancy hotel stay to guests (Baek & Ok, 2017). When guests make booking decisions, they care about room styles, arts, and cultural designs which look stylish and pleasant (Kuang & Zhang, 2017). The study has proven that hotel room colors, designs, lights and styles influence guests' satisfaction and their hotel booking decision (Baek & Ok, 2017; Lin, 2004; Obinwanne & Alozie, 2019). This is why hotels always seek an opportunity to update their rooms and they want to make travelers feel comfortable like home while they stay at hotels (Siguaw & Enz, 1999). Nowadays a lot of hotel guests are sensitive and selective about their environment (Obinwanne & Alozie, 2019). According to Doherty (2021), during the COVID-19 pandemic numerous hotels updated their rooms like a home with a private dining room which allowed people to work from hotels. Also, hotels removed many decorations, accessories, and updated floors to hard wood instead of carpets to keep rooms more hygienic as well as to meet customers' new expectations after the reopening from the pandemic. Thus, the current study expects that guest satisfaction with hotel rooms to have a more significant effect on guest recommendation after the reopening. In sum, the current study developed the following hypotheses:

H3a: Guests' satisfaction with hotel rooms had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel before the COVID-19 pandemic.

H3b: Guests' satisfaction with hotel rooms had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.

H3c: The effect of guests' satisfaction with hotel rooms on their willingness to recommend the hotel is stronger after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.

#### **Effect of Service on Guest Recommendation**

The hospitality industry was growing rapidly, and people demanded services (Jasinskas et al., 2016). During the pandemic, people were not able to travel due to restrictions, but after the

reopening, they want to travel and receive services (Zheng et al., 2021). Even though service can be intangible or invisible, guests sometimes do not care about spending money to purchase it if they can gain the service that they are looking for (Ali et al., 2021). A lot of hotels provide similar services to guests; therefore, it is necessary to provide superior services to retain old customers and attract more new customers (Jasinskas et al., 2016). Fulfilling customers' requests and satisfaction is always a challenge because their needs always change (Ali et al., 2021). In addition, since service is a performance, they cannot take it home (Getty & Thompson, 1995).

Many hotel guests expressed that when they stayed at hotels, greeting was one of the services that significantly affected their satisfaction (Brown & Azaroff, 1994). When hotel employees provide a friendly service attitude, have an empathic feeling, provide professional service, and solve problems quickly, customer satisfaction ratings tend to go up (Chen et al., 2015; Kuo, 2017; Shao, 2017). Furthermore, when a hotel provides a high level of customer service, it can help the hotel company create customer loyalty (Getty & Thompson, 1995). This is because there is a relationship between service quality and guest satisfaction (Tefera & Govender, 2016). That is, most hotels can improve guest satisfaction and gain positive word-ofmouth if they provide high quality services (Ali et al., 2021; Getty & Thompson, 1995). Superior service will build guests' loyalty, and in turn they will recommend hotels to others which will help hotels make critical revenue (Carev, 2008). Especially after the reopening from the pandemic, guests have demonstrated different service expectations to protect themselves from COVID-19, and hotels have changed their service policies and procedures to meet guest expectations. Atadil and Lu (2021) stated that self-service technology got popular and became a trend during COVID-19 pandemic due to social distancing and guest privacy. For example, hotels have implemented robot room service, mobile check-in and out, and voice control systems
to provide safe service. Thus, the current study expects that after the reopening from the pandemic, high level of services played an essential role to make guests to satisfied more and recommend a hotel to others. In sum, this study expected to develop the following hypotheses:

H4a: Guests' satisfaction with services had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel before the COVID-19 pandemic.

H4b: Guests' satisfaction with services had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.

H4c: The effect of guests' satisfaction with services on their willingness to recommend the hotel is stronger after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.

#### **Effect of Value on Guest Recommendation**

Value is linked to price and quality, and it is determined based on the quality of services that guests received compared to the money that they paid (El-Adly, 2019; Rajagru, 2016). Value has three patterns which include the following: (1) low price, (2) whatever one wants in a product, and (3) quality that guests receive for what they paid (Berry et al., 1988). Price plays a big role towards the value, and it indicates the amount of sacrifice and quality (Chen et al., 2015; Hellstrand, 2010). People consider price and value a lot before they make hotel room reservations (Hellstrand, 2010). When guests pay a small amount, they do not expect a high level of service; however, if they pay a lot, they expect full, perfect services (Rajagru, 2016). Keiningham et al. (2014) stated that customers and hotels are exchanging value. When customers pay a high price for service, hotel revenue goes up and guests receive high-quality service as well as gain satisfaction. Normally guests cannot decide service quality and value until they receive it (Getty & Thompson, 1995). Sometimes guests receive beyond and above services; however sometimes they might receive services lower than they expected (Milfelner et al.,

2011). If they think overall hotel stays were valuable, they tend to be satisfied, revisit, have loyalty, and recommend hotels to others (Rajaguru, 2016; Rajaguru & Hassanli, 2017). Due to COVID-19, many people lost jobs and had financial problems (Aharon et al., 2021). Since they have financial problems, their spending behavior has changed (Garner et al., 2020). People reduced spending money on unnecessary items including traveling and eating at restaurants (Garner et al., 2020). Therefore, the current study believes that after the reopening from the pandemic, it is important to make guest to think that a hotel stay is valuable because this can possibly have an effect on their satisfaction and recommendation of the hotel to others. Accordingly, this study proposed the following hypotheses:

H5a: Guests' satisfaction with hotel value had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel before the COVID-19 pandemic.

H5b: Guests' satisfaction with hotel value had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.

H5c: The effect of guests' satisfaction with hotel value on their willingness to recommend the hotel is stronger after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.



Figure 1. Research Model

Table 1 Summary of Hypotheses

Hypotheses

H1a: Guests' satisfaction with hotel cleanliness had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel before the COVID-19 pandemic. H1b: Guests' satisfaction with hotel cleanliness had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic. H1c: The effect of guests' satisfaction with hotel cleanliness on their willingness to recommend the hotel is stronger after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic. H2a: Guests' satisfaction with hotel location had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel before the COVID-19 pandemic. H2b: Guests' satisfaction with hotel location had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic. H2c: The effect of guests' satisfaction with hotel location on their willingness to recommend the hotel is stronger after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic. H3a: Guests' satisfaction with hotel rooms had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel before the COVID-19 pandemic. H3b: Guests' satisfaction with hotel rooms had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic. H3c: The effect of guests' satisfaction with hotel rooms on their willingness to recommend the hotel is stronger after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic. H4a: Guests' satisfaction with services had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel before the COVID-19 pandemic. H4b: Guests' satisfaction with services had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic. H4c: The effect of guests' satisfaction with services on their willingness to recommend the hotel is stronger after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic. H5a: Guests' satisfaction with hotel value had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel before the COVID-19 pandemic. H5b: Guests' satisfaction with hotel value had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic. H5c: The effect of guests' satisfaction with hotel value on their willingness to recommend the

hotel is stronger after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.

# Chapter 3

# Methodology

The goal of this chapter is to explain the research method of the study. It uses a quantitative method to help readers better understand the factors affecting guests to recommend hotels to others before the COVID-19 pandemic and after the reopening. This chapter describes the research questions, methodology selection, multiple linear regression method, random forest in machine learning, secondary data, data collection, study participants, biases, ethical concerns, and summary.

#### **Research Questions**

This chapter identifies the method used to find the following research questions. RQ1: Which factors affect guests to recommend a hotel to others before the COVID-19 pandemic?

RQ2: Which factors affect guests to recommend a hotel to others after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic?

RQ3: What can hotels do to increase guest recommendations after the reopening?

#### **Methodology Selection**

Qualitative research is not about numbers, and it finds opportunities to study deeper phenomena and participants (Arendt et al., 2012). In contrast, quantitative research finds the relationship between variables, and results can be shown as numbers (Assaf & Tsionas, 2019). The purpose of this study is to find out which factors are affecting guests to recommend hotels to others during June 2019 (before the COVID-19 pandemic) and June 2021(after the reopening). The secondary data is valuable to this study because it was gathered from an integrated resort, and it included data from previous years without having a recall bias. Furthermore, the study

focuses on multiple linear regression and random forest in machine learning techniques. It combines several prediction decisions and indicates composite decisions (Breiman, 2001).

# **Multiple Linear Regression**

Multiple linear regression (MLR) method was used in plenty of past studies when researchers wanted to find out the relationship between independent variables and dependent variables (Uyanik & Guler, 2013). This study's goal is to discover factors affecting hotel recommendations before the COVID-19 pandemic and after the reopening from COVID-19. Therefore, multiple linear regression is one of the methods to find out the relationship between variables. To use multiple regression, independence, multicollinearity, correlation coefficient, multivariate normality, linear relationship, and homoscedasticity should be adopted (Williams et al., 2013).

#### **Random Forest in Machine Learning**

According to Breiman (2001), random forests procedures grow numerous classification trees, and each tree provides classification. Later, the forest selects the classification that gets the most votes from each tree. There are two groups of methods such as bagging and boosting. In bagging, trees are not teaching each other and work alone. In boosting, trees are learning from the previous trees' mistakes and correcting them for trees that follow. There are three main advantages of using random forest: (1) it runs large data with a high accuracy, (2) it can take many input variables, (3) it gives an idea of what variable is a necessary classification. Thus, this study used random forest in machine learning to understand factors affecting guests' hotel recommendations.

# **Secondary Data**

Church (2002) explains that secondary data is data that was already collected or analyzed by others and new researchers do not involve themselves in collecting it. Even though data was not collected by researchers, they reutilized this data and reanalyzed it for answering other research questions that were not found in the original study. Using second data brings advantages and disadvantages. Dale et al. (1989) and Johnston (2017) suggest that the main advantage of using secondary data is that researchers can save money and time. Normally it requires a long time to get a large amount of data and financial support. The main disadvantage of using secondary data is researchers cannot gain additional data regarding follow-up questions and they are not sure how well the data was collected.

In this study, secondary data is used for the following main two reasons. First, it is not easy to obtain 2019 data. When a researcher asks participants about past years' experience, it could cause recall bias, which makes a systematic error because most participants do not remember past events and experiences with details (Yuksel, 2017). Second, this study used data from the same hotel that was collected in June 2019 and June 2021. The hotel asked the same questions to participants; therefore, it is easy to compare the findings from two different periods.

# **Data Collection**

This study uses secondary data; therefore, the Institutional Review Board (IRB) is exempted, and the company name is anonymous. The data used in this study is the result of online surveys distributed to guests who stayed at a well-known integrated resort in the western United States in June of 2019 before the pandemic or June of 2021 after the reopening from the pandemic. There are two monthly data in this study including June 2019 (before the COVID-19 pandemic) and June 2021 (after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic). It compares the

same month which is June; instead of different months to protect seasonal variation. During the data collection period, the resort did not remodel rooms, but some staff members were changed. The guests could utilize any devices to take surveys as long as it allowed them to have internet. Therefore, the secondary data (i.e., online survey data) was recorded electronically and was saved automatically in the company's cloud database. Later, the researcher received the Excel file and transferred data to SPSS to analyze the results.

The survey began with a mandatory linear numeric scale type question from range 0 (not at all likely) to 10 (extremely likely). It asked how likely they were to recommend the hotel to friends or colleagues. The other five questions (Table 2) used a star rating scale to ask about the cleanliness, location, room, service, and value. Participants could choose stars between 1 to 5. Following is the five-star rating system; 1 = "very unsatisfied", 2 = "unsatisfied", 3 = "neutral", 4 = satisfied and 5 = "very satisfied". The demographic data was collected through reservations automatically; therefore, surveys did not include demographic information. After removing incomplete responses, 169 complete responses were used for June 2019 and 212 responses were used for June 2021.

#### **Study Participants**

Surveys were written in English; therefore, the guests had to understand English, but it did not have to be their native language to take surveys. This is because the survey questions were simple. Participants were recruited through the integrated resort by email. The survey was sent to a guest's email that they provided during check-in and had seven days to complete the survey from their check-out dates. To receive the online survey, every guest had to stay at the hotel during June 2019 or June 2021 for a minimum of one night. The participants were not limited to any genders or age groups, but everyone had to be 21 years old or above. Since the

survey link and guest reservations were connected, the demographic questions such as age, segment groups, and states were automatically collected.

#### **Biases**

This study minimizes the following biases: recall bias, selection bias, and potential bias. First, the survey could not be taken after seven days from their check-out dates; thus, it avoids recall bias. When guests have unlimited time to take surveys, there is a possibility that guests might confuse the experience with other hotel stays. Second, the survey was sent to all guests who provided a correct email address; thus, it avoids selection bias. Third, the study uses surveys that were only sent to guests who stayed at the hotel at least one day during the particular period; therefore, it avoided having random respondents who stayed at other hotels.

# **Ethical Concerns**

The study utilized secondary data, which answers different hypotheses and research questions from the original survey. The researcher was not involved in collecting data, but it still brought ethical concerns such as data confidentiality, security, and potential harm minimization. To protect privacy and confidentiality, this research mixes of the following conditions. First, all personal information such as names or identification information was removed before analyzing data. Second, the participants volunteered to take an online survey. Third, it did not cause any damage to the participants. Moreover, all data was safely saved in a locked folder after analyzing the result; therefore, it will not cause any future risks.

#### Summary

Chapter 3 discussed the methodology of this study. To answer the research questions, it used secondary data and analyzed data by multiple linear regression and random forest methods. Study participants were gathered from the integrated resort who were over 21 and the current

study made sure to avoid any possible biases and ethical concerns. The next chapter will provide the research result based on Chapter 3 methodology.

# Table 2 Survey Items

# 1. How likely are you to recommend the hotel to friends or colleagues?



Please rate the followings:

2. Cleanliness







4. Room



5. Service



6.Value



#### Chapter 4

# Results

This chapter presents the results of this study to answer the following research questions:

1. Which factors affect the response variable "Likelihood to Recommend a hotel" to others before the COVID-19 pandemic?

2. Which factors affect the response variable "Likelihood to Recommend a hotel" to others after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic?

Additionally, this study will attempt to determine what the hotels can do to increase guest recommendations after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.

This study utilized secondary data that was collected from a well-known integrated resort in the western United States. The statistical software SPSS and the statistical software environment R were used to analyze data. Specifically, the current study uses multiple linear regression (MLR) and the method of random forest (RF) from Machine Learning to discover key predictors affecting guests' hotel recommendations before COVID-19 and after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic. This chapter describes the demographic profile of the respondents, the results from multiple linear regression analysis, and the results from the machine learning method of random forest.

The MLR method fits a linear model to a continuous response Y as a linear function of the potential predictors (Uyanik & Guler, 2013). The method of RF is a decision tree-based method in which a large number of decision trees are used (i.e., 1000), with each decision tree using randomly selected predictors from all potential predictors. Each decision tree yields a predicted Y value (Y. pred); the average of these 1000 Y. pred values is the predicted Y-value

from RF (Lantz, 2015; Singh et al., 2018). The performance of the RF prediction is assessed by Root Mean Squared Error (RMSE) or Node Purity.

#### **Demographic Profile of the Respondents**

Respondents were recruited through emails and responded to an online survey. They must stay at the hotel at least one day with an age over 21 to receive the online survey. After deleting the same pattern of answers, 169 responses were used in June 2019, and 212 responses were used in June 2021. Table 3 and 4 describe the demographic profile of the respondents including respondents' age, segment groups, and states.

As shown in Table 3, in June 2019, the majority of respondents aged were between 40-49 years old (29%), followed by 50-59 years old (26%), 30-39 years old (24.3%), 60-69 years old (8.9%) and 21-29 years old (7.1%) and 70 years old or older (4.7%). The majority of respondents visited the hotel for the casino (34.3%), transient (30.8%), leisure (23.7%), and convention (11.2%). In addition, the most respondents were from California (27.2%), Texas (10.1%), Washington (7.1%), and Arizona (4.7%).

Table 4 represented the demographic background of guests who responded to the survey in June 2021. The majority of respondents were aged between 40-49 years old (32.5%), followed by 30-39 years old (25.5%), 50-59 years old (18.4%), 21-29 years old (13.2%), 60-69 years old (8.5%) and 70 years old or older (1.9%). Most respondents visited the hotel for transient (45.3%), casino (28.8%), leisure (16.5%), and convention (9.4%). In addition, the respondents were from the following states: California (26.9%), Texas (12.3%), Washington (7.1%), and Arizona (6.1%). The remaining respondents (47.6%) were from other states.

Comparing June 2019 and June 2021 demographic profiles of respondents, in 2019, the mean age of the respondents was approximately 46.23 years old and in 2021, it was

approximately 43.42 years old. Figure 2 explained that over the past two years, guests' average ages were getting younger. Moreover, in June 2019, casino guests visited the hotel the most, but in June 2021, transient guests stayed at the hotel more than casino guest.

Age Groups	N	%	
21-29 years old	12	7.1	
30-39 years old	41	24.3	
40-49 years old	49	29	
50-59 years old	44	26	
60-69 years old	15	8.9	
70 or older	8	4.7	
Segment Groups			
Casino	59	34.3	
Convention	19	11.2	
Leisure	40	23.7	
Transient	52	30.8	
States (Top 5)			
CA	46	27.2	
ТХ	17	10.1	
WA	12	7.1	
AZ	8	4.7	
Other States	86	46	

Table 3 Demographic of Respondents in 2019 (N = 169)

Age Groups	Ν	%		
21-29 years old	28	13.2		
30-39 years old	54	25.5		
40-49 years old	69	32.5		
50-59 years old	39	18.4		
60-69 years old	18	8.5		
70 or older	4	1.9		
Segment Groups				
Casino	61	28.8		
Convention	20	9.4		
Leisure	35	16.5		
Transient	96	45.3		
States (Top 5)				
CA	57	26.9		
TX	26	12.3		
WA	15	7.1		
AZ	13	6.1		
Other States	101	47.6		

Table 4 Demographic of Respondents in 2021 (N = 212)



Note: A box plot of age by year suggests that the mean age of players has decreased in 2021. This was confirmed by the method of t-test.

Figure 2. Box Plot of Age for June 2019 and June 2021

# **Multiple Linear Regression Analysis**

Multiple Linear regression is one of the methods that most research uses to analyze data (Mason &Perreault, 1991; Uyanik & Guler, 2013). Therefore, the current study also uses multiple linear regression to identify factors influencing guests' willingness to recommend the hotel before the COVID-19 pandemic and after the reopening. To evaluate an overall model fit, this study used the R<sup>2</sup> and adjusted R<sup>2</sup> values. Multiple regression is based on the following six assumptions: independence, multicollinearity, correlation coefficient, multivariate normality, linear relationship, and homoscedasticity (Williams et al., 2013). The multiple linear regression has been used in numerous studies to test a model fit (Hair et al., 2010), and when the p-value is less than 0.05, it is statistically significant (Hooper et al., 2008). Moreover, Knofczynski and Mundfrom (2008) indicated that, depending on the sample size, there would be a statistically significant difference. Therefore, sample sizes should be determine based on numbers of predictor variables.

First, Williams et al. (2013) stated that to use multiple linear regression, a dependent variable and independent variables should be independent. As Figure 6 and 8 shown, these variables are good for multiple regression. This study's dependent variable is the likelihood of hotel recommendation, and the independent variables are cleanliness, location, rooms, service, and value. Second, when fitting an MLR model, the predictors should not have very high multicollinearity as measured by the Variance Inflation Factor (VIF); all VIF values were less than 5 for both 2019 and 2021 (See Table 7 and 8). Hence the predictor data did not suffer from high multicollinearity (Kim., 2019). In addition, Table 7 and 8 indicated how the dependent variable, likelihood to recommend hotels, was predicted by each independent variable. Third, the correlation was tested between a dependent variable and independent variables: the Figure 3

(June 2019) and Figure 4 (June 2021). These factors scales can range from -1.0 to 1.0 (Mukaka, 2012). Therefore, these correlation plots represented that there were no errors and variables were linearly related. Fourth, multivariate normality was evaluated by the P-P plot (Figure 9,10). The figures showed a straight line; therefore, there were no non-normality issues. Next, homoscedasticity was assessed based on histograms (Figure 5,7). Data were normally distributed, but to be clearer, standardized, Cook's distance and standardized DFFIT were additionally evaluated. All standardized scales were lower than 3, Cook's distance scale was not higher than 1, and standardized DFFIR score was not higher than 2 (Cook, 2011; Field, 2017). Table 5 and 6 explained model summaries, and when the adjusted R square is close to 1, it means a multiple regression model fit (Rahman et al., 2015). June 2019 adjusted R square was 0.78 and June 2021 was 0.77; therefore, the model accounted for 78% in June 2019 and 77% in June 2021. Overall, the regression model was statistically significant; however, it was not the best method for this study to finalize the result because the survey response was ordinal.

#### **Random Forest Analysis**

The current study also used Random Forest (RF) to achieve classification accuracy and provides the importance of different variables (Pal, 2005). The RF is a decision tree-based approach that can be used for regression and classification problems. It fits a large number of decision trees, each time using randomly selected predictors, and then uses the average of all fitted values (in case of regression) as the predicted response.

In the case of RF, the variable importance for each predictor is computed. The first importance measure is obtained from permuting Out of Bag (OOB) data: OOB error is the average prediction error on each training sample, using only the trees that are left out the is the predictor in the bootstrap sample. This is repeated for all other predictors. The difference between the mean squared error (MSE) is averaged over all trees and then divided by the standard deviation of the differences.

The percentage of mean square error (%IncMSE) indicates how much RF model accuracy decreases if the current study leaves out that factor and finds the importance of each factor (Rumano, 2019). Figure 11 and Table 9 demonstrated that before COVID-19, guests liked to recommend hotels based on the following factors: value, service, cleanliness, room and location. Moreover, Figure 12 and Table 10 indicate the importance of variables after the reopening from COVID-19, and it includes value, service, room and cleanliness. After the reopening, the location factor no longer significantly affected guests to recommend hotels to others.

# **Support for Hypotheses**

Table 11 summarized support for the proposed hypotheses. There are 15 hypotheses, and the current study's findings supported 12 but did not support three. The hyphothesis1c predicted that after the reopening from COVID-19, guests will consider a cleanliness factor more when they recommend hotels to others. However, the current study's results indicated that after the reopening, the cleanliness factor had less of an affect on guests' recommendations (See Figure 11 and 12). Moreover, hypothesis 2b predicted that location factor would influence guests' hotel recommendations after the reopening. However, the current study indicated that after the reopening, location was not a factor that affected guests' hotel recommendation. Therefore, hypothesis 2c was also not supported.

# Summary

The current study used multiple regression and random forest methods to find results. Based on the outcomes from the random forest method, before the COVID-19 pandemic, value, service, room, cleanliness, and location were the significant factors that affected guests to recommend a hotel to others. However, after the reopening from COVID-19, only four factors which are value, service, room and cleanliness affected guest's recommendations.

# Table 5 Model Summary (June 2019)

R Square	Adjusted R Square
0.7869	0.7791

Note: Predators: cleanliness, location, rooms, service, and value, Dependent Variable: Likelihood to recommend a hotel

Table 6 Model Summary (June 2021)

R Square	Adjusted R Square
0.7705	0.7638

Note: Predators: cleanliness, location, rooms, service, and value, Dependent Variable: Likelihood to recommend a hotel

	Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients			
	В	Std. Error	Beta	p-value	t-value	VIF
(Intercept)	-3.86	0.31		0.03	-2.16	
Cleanliness	0.03	0.08	0.01	0.95	-0.06	3.33
Location	0.41	0.07	0.12	0.02	2.31	1.56
Rooms	0.88	0.08	0.36	0.00	5.62	3.51
Service	0.81	0.07	0.33	0.00	5.10	2.46
Value	0.65	0.07	0.25	0.00	4.48	2.65

Table 7 Multiple Linear Regression Coefficients with VIF for each predictor (June 2019)

Table 8 Multiple Linear Regression Coefficients with VIF for each predictor (June 2021)

	Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients			
	В	Std. Error	Beta	p-value	t-value	VIF
(Intercept)	-3.86	0.31		0.50	-0.86	
Cleanliness	0.03	0.08	0.01	0.15	1.45	3.36
Location	0.41	0.07	0.12	0.76	-0.31	1.36
Rooms	0.88	0.08	0.36	0.00	5.86	3.64
Service	0.81	0.07	0.33	0.00	5.24	2.29
Value	0.65	0.07	0.25	0.00	4.54	3.00



Note: Correlation plots of the 2019 response variable and the predictors.

Figure 3. Correlation Matrix (June 2019)



Note: Correlation plots of the 2021 response variable and the predictors.

*Figure 4.* Correlation Matrix (June 2021)



Note: Mean=-3.23, E-16, Std. Dev.= 0.99, N=169

Figure 5. Histogram (June 2019)



Scatterplot

*Figure 6*. Scatterplot (June 2019)



Histogram Dependent Variable: Likelihood to Recommend

Note: Mean=1.13, E-16, Std. Dev.= 0.99, N=212

Figure 7. Histogram (June 2021)



Regression Standardized Predicted Value

*Figure 8.* Scatterplot (June 2021)



Figure 9. P-P Plot (June 2019)



Normal P-P Plot of Regression Standardized Residual

Figure 10. P-P Plot (June 2021)



*Figure 11*. Variable Importance Plots of Significant Predictors in Regression (June 2019)

Predictor	
Value	12.52
Service	12
Cleanliness	10
Room	9
Location	7.5

Table 9 % IncMSE (June 2019)



Figure 12. Variable Importance Plots of Significant predictors in Regression (June 2021)

Table 10 % IncMSE (June 2021)

Predictor	
Value	12.9
Service	12.2
Cleanliness	8.55
Room	11.9

H1a	Guests' satisfaction with hotel cleanliness had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel before the COVID-19 pandemic.	S
H1b	Guests' satisfaction with hotel cleanliness had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.	S
H1c	The effect of guests' satisfaction with hotel cleanliness on their willingness to recommend the hotel is stronger after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.	NS
H2a	Guests' satisfaction with hotel location had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel before the COVID-19 pandemic.	S
H2b	Guests' satisfaction with hotel location had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.	NS
H2c	The effect of guests' satisfaction with hotel location on their willingness to recommend the hotel is stronger after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.	NS
НЗа	Guests' satisfaction with hotel rooms had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel before the COVID-19 pandemic.	S
H3b	Guests' satisfaction with hotel rooms had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.	S
НЗс	The effect of guests' satisfaction with hotel rooms on their willingness to recommend the hotel is stronger after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.	S
H4a	Guests' satisfaction with services had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel before the COVID-19 pandemic.	S
H4b	Guests' satisfaction with services had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.	S
H4c	The effect of guests' satisfaction with services on their willingness to recommend the hotel is stronger after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.	S
H5a	Guests' satisfaction with hotel value had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel before the COVID-19 pandemic.	S
H5b	Guests' satisfaction with hotel value had a positive effect on their willingness to recommend the hotel after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.	S
Н5с	The effect of guests' satisfaction with hotel value on their willingness to recommend the hotel is stronger after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.	S

Note: S=Supported; NS= Not supported.

# **Chapter 5**

# **Discussion and Implications**

Chapter four analyzed the data using multiple regression and random forest methods. The random forest method answered this study's research questions, and this chapter summarizes and discusses the findings. Lastly, this chapter explains the theoretical implications, practical implications, and limitations of the study and recommendations for future research.

#### **Discussion of Findings**

The purpose of this study is to find out which factors caused guests to recommend hotels to others before the COVID-19 pandemic and after the reopening from COVID-19. The pandemic brought many changes to the hospitality industry (Gursoy & Chi, 2020; Zheng et al., 2021), and this affected guests' hotel preferences and travel styles (Wen et al., 2021; Zenker & Kock, 2020). Even though survey questions were the same in June 2019 and June 2021, the results were different. As shown in Figure 11, before the COVID-19 pandemic, June 2019, guests considered five factors when recommending hotels to others. The order of their preferences was as follows: (1) value, (2) service, (3) cleanliness, (4) room, and (5) location. However, after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic, June 2021, the results slightly changed. The guests ranked the important factors as (1) value, (2) service, (3) room, and (4) cleanliness (See Figure 12). Furthermore, in June 2019, five factors were significant; however, in June 2021, location was not a significant factor that affected guests' willingness to recommend a hotel to others. The study also revealed that after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic, value, service, and room factors had stronger effects on guests' willingness to recommend as compared to before the COVID-19 pandemic. On the other hand, after the reopening, the

cleanliness factor was less important, and location was not a significant factor that affected guests to recommend hotels to others.

Eventually, from these findings, hotel operators can understand guests' travel trends, preferences, and opinions about staying at hotels after the reopening from COVID-19. By knowing these findings, hotel managers can differentiate themselves from other hotels. The hospitality industry is more sensitive from the pandemic than other industries (Dube et al., 2021); therefore, understanding each pandemic and guest behavior is essential. The current study provides empirical support for a previous study by Miao et al. (2021) that suggested after the reopening from COVID-19, hotel managers need to build new strategies to attract customers. If so, hotels can increase the likelihood to recommend hotels to others because guests' views and preferences have changed. COVID-19 is different from other pandemics because it has affected the hospitality industry globally, and the duration of the pandemic is longer than other pandemics (Kenny & Dutt, 2022). Therefore, it is crucial to compare which factors are causing guests to recommend hotels to others.

#### **Theoretical Implications**

The current study is unique because COVID-19 brought ample changes in the hospitality industry (Nicola et al., 2020; Zheng et al., 2021), and this is the first study comparing the factors that affect hotel recommendations before the COVID-19 pandemic and after the reopening. This study adopted the servicescape model by Bitner (1992) where servicescape influenced guests' behaviors and intentions to recommend hotels to others (i.e., word-of-mouth). Moreover, it adopted the service quality (SERVQUAL) model (Berry et al., 1988), which includes the following dimensions: reliability, assurance, tangibles, empathy, and responsiveness. The current

study makes multiple contributions by increasing understanding of which factors significantly affect guests to recommend hotels after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic.

First, this study demonstrates that before COVID-19 and after the reopening, the value factor significantly affected guests to recommend hotels to others. This finding is aligned with those of other studies that were conducted before COVID-19 (El-Adly, 2019; Rajesh & Rajesh, 2016; Wu & Liang, 2009). These previous studies supported that value is an important factor to increase customer satisfaction. Chan et al. (2021) stated that every guest has different opinions about value; however, they are aware that when they pay low prices for hotels, services and room qualities can be lower than luxury hotels where they pay a high amount. More specifically, a value is determined based on service or products that guests received, and a good value means sum of reasonable price and good quality (El-Adly, 2019; Wu & Liang, 2009). This study provides new insights into hospitality literature by examining the relationship between a guest's perceived value of a hotel and his/her willingness to recommend the hotel, before and after the reopening from COVID-19. More importantly, this is the first study which revealed that after the reopening, value influences guests to recommend hotels more significantly than before COVID-19.

Second, this study demonstrates that the service factor played an important role before COVID-19 and after the reopening. This study provides support for previous studies conducted before the pandemic (Carev, 2008; Jainskas et al., 2016) that proposed that providing great service makes guests satisfied and is a key to success in the hospitality industry. The findings of this study are also aligned with Wu and Liang (2009) who surveyed luxury hotel restaurant customers and demonstrated that before COVID-19, a high-quality service had a positive effect on guests' satisfaction. The current study found that when guests received great personal service

from hotels, they liked to recommend those hotels to others. After the reopening, guests still cared about service as an important factor; however, guests are expecting different service such as expecting self-service technologies to avoid human contact (Kim et al., 2021; Shin et al., 2020). Thus, this study's findings indicated that after the reopening from COVID-19, service had a great influence on guests to recommend hotels to others.

Third, this study indicates that the room influences guests to recommend hotels to others before COVID-19 and after the reopening. Bitner (1992) mentioned that the physical environment affects people's behavior. This study's findings are aligned with those of other studies conducted before COVID-19 (Baek & Ok, 2017; Bitner, 1992; Kuang & Zhang, 2017; Lin, 2004; Obinwanne & Alozie, 2019) which found that guests care about physical environment, room styles, conditions, and designs before they book hotels. The current study is also consistent with the finding of a previous study which revealed that guests like to experience updated hotel rooms and facilities after the reopening (Jiang & Wen, 2020). More importantly, this is the first study which revealed that after the reopening, rooms influence guests to recommend hotels more significantly than before COVID-19.

Fourth, this study demonstrates that cleanliness is an important factor for guests to recommend hotels before COVID-19 and after the reopening. The finding is consistent with previous studies (Lockyer, 2005; Zemke et al., 2015) that were conducted before COVID-19, and cleanliness affected guests booking decisions. Kim et al. (2005) interviewed hotel managers and found that after the SARS pandemic, hotel occupancy dropped, and guests started to pay extra attention to cleanliness. Other studies that were conducted during COVID-19, (Atadil & Lu ,2021; Sharma & Kaushik, 2021; Wachyuni & Kusumaningrum, 2020) also indicated that COVID-19 influenced guests to expect rooms and facilities to be extra clean and is the major

criteria that affected their hotel recommendation. However, this study result was different than previous studies. The current study demonstrates that the factor cleanliness was less important after the reopening. This study believes that before COVID-19, not every integrated resort was kept clean to the same degree, but after the reopening all hotels and restaurants were sanitized as mandated by local, state and federal orders (Levtchenko, 2020). Therefore, this is the first study which revealed that after the reopening, cleanliness influenced guests to recommend hotels less than before COVID-19.

Lastly, this current study found that before the COVID-19 pandemic, the location factor affected guests' hotel recommendations, but after the reopening, it was not a significant factor anymore. This study's finding aligns with other previous studies (Latinopoulos, 2020; Pan, 2002; Yang et al., 2018) which demonstrated that before COVID-19, guests considered location before they made booking decisions because they cared about public facilities, convenience, accessibility. Latinopoulos (2020) reviewed 56 hotels' online reviews in Thessaloniki and found that location was a significant factor that affects hotel price and hotel rating. However, the current study revealed, after the reopening from COVID-19, location is not an important factor anymore. Guests do not care about public facilities that much because they are still afraid of taking public transportation (Huang et al., 2020). Thus, after the reopening from COVID-19, location is not a significant factor that is affecting hotel recommendations.

#### **Practical Implications**

Previous studies and this study defined that the COVID-19 pandemic dramatically changed the hospitality industry (Wang et al., 2021). Also, after the reopening, guests considered factors affecting hotel recommendations differently compared to before the COVID-19 pandemic. This study provided helpful practical implications. After the reopening from COVID-
19 pandemic, when hotel managements wanted to attract guests and receive recommendations, they had to put extra effort into providing a good value, providing exceptional service, updating rooms, and maintaining cleanliness.

First, the findings implied that after the reopening from COVID-19, value was more important for guests when recommending hotels to others compared to before COVID-19. Hotel managers need to understand that value takes a critical role when guests recommend hotels to others. Therefore, hotels need to keep seeking ideas to ensure guests feel that hotel stays are valuable. During COVID-19, providing a safety kit that includes a sanitizer and a mask might be one of the ways to make guests think the hotel stay was valuable. This is because, even though their hotel stays and service are fleeting and invisible after the visit, amenities are a product that is visible. With a safety kit, guests will remember their hotel stay and possibly recommend hotels to others. Therefore, to receive guests' recommendations, it is essential to provide good service and facilities at a valuable price.

Second, before COVID-19 and after the reopening, guests scored service as the second most important factor. The findings indicate that hotel managers should re-evaluate their service quality and discover new ways to provide exceptional services such as adopting new technologies. Especially in the hospitality industry, hotels need to prove that they are providing safe services; after the reopening from COVID-19, some hotels adopted robot staff or AI services to keep providing contactless services (Shin et al., 2020). Before the COVID-19 pandemic, guests used to prefer human staff service rather than robot staff services, but after the reopening from COVID-19, results changed to the opposite (Kim et al., 2021). They changed because robot staff provided contactless services and kept a social distance. At the same time, human staff may spread viruses while robot staff do not take risk of contagion (Kim et al., 2021).

Therefore, hotel managers need to have an open mind regarding adopting new technologies and to ensure guests are satisfied. Once they are satisfied with services and feel safe, they will recommend hotels to others.

Third, the current study's findings suggest that hotel managers need to keep updating their rooms. During COVID-19, many people were not able to travel, and now their expectations about hotel rooms have been increased. Guests expect that hotels remodeled rooms while they were closed entirely for a few months (Jiang & Wen, 2020; Miao et al., 2021). Some hotels have been updating their rooms to attract more guests. For example, they started to update their floors to hard floors instead of carpets because hardwoods can keep rooms cleaner than carpets (Doherty, 2021). However, most hotels lost their money during the closure and could not afford to remodel rooms. Hotel managers should think about updating rooms because it is part of the investment. They need to purchase some features and add them to rooms. One example is installing air purifiers in rooms which helps eliminate harmful odors (Chan et al., 2015). After the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic, the room factor was still an important factor that affected guests to recommend hotels to others; therefore, hotel managers need to make sure to review their rooms and update them if needed.

Fourth, the findings suggest that hotel operators need to re-evaluate the cleaning procedures with different standard points. It is important to check if housekeeping is following the new procedures or if they are not following them well. Guests were worried about visiting hotels because there were many high touchpoints, and COVID-19 is transmitted from person to person. However, guests believe that due to states and federal orders, hotels are following specific cleaning procedures to keep them safe. Therefore, housekeeping managers should train

housekeeping teams well to follow the cleaning procedures, sanitize public areas, and clean rooms. It might be a good idea to adopt robot housekeeping to decrease staff and guests contact.

Lastly, from the findings, hotel operators know that after the reopening from COVID-19, location is not a significant factor that affects hotel recommendations. People get COVID-19 from human contact; therefore, they like to avoid public transportation. It would be a great idea for hotels to rent bicycles or scooters to guests. Moreover, after the reopening, numerous hotels advertised their rooms as offices to attract local people. Since many people worked from home, hotels attracted them to work in hotel rooms. Therefore, these people might not care about hotel location because they visit hotels to work. Since the location factor does not significantly affect guests' hotel recommendations, it is a great change for some hotels that are not located in central parts of a city. These hotels need to rent office products and provide high-quality room services instead of worry about the hotel location.

### **Limitations and Future Research**

Every study has limitations and providing limitations could assist other studies to be more improved. This section provides four main limitations for this study, and it recommends future research to improve followings.

First, the study collected the data from one integrated resort that was located in western United States, and surveys were completed in June 2019 and June 2021. Each country faced the COVID-19 pandemic differently with various regulations (Barti et al., 2020); thus, the findings of this study cannot generalize for all hotels that are in other countries or cities. The future study should recruit respondents who stayed in other resorts in different countries. This will improve the study result to be more generalizable and not just a particular country.

Second, the survey only included six questions that were simple and did not ask in-depth questions. Since the survey was too simple, there is a possibility that some respondents were confused about questions. There could be many other factors that affect guests to book or recommend hotels to others beyond these five factors which were cleanliness, location, room, service, and value. This study's survey asked respondents to measure each factor between 1 through 5 stars. Since it did not use open-ended questions, respondents did not get an opportunity to mention other factors that are affecting hotel recommendations before the COVID-19 pandemic and after the reopening besides five predictors that were mentioned. The future study should ask questions differently such as using open-ended questions or asking more questions in detail to discover factors that are affecting hotel recommendations before COVID-19 and after the reopening instead of asking respondents to rate stars for predictors.

Third, this study only focused on the COVID-19 pandemic, and different pandemics can cause different effects on the hospitality industry. Therefore, this study cannot determine that guests would care about value, service, room, and cleanliness as essential factors to recommend hotels to others after the reopening from the pandemic. Moreover, at the time of writing, some countries are still struggling due to a high number of COVID-19 cases and yet to say that the COVID-19 pandemic has been over in the United States. This study discovered the factors affecting hotel recommendations after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic but not after the COVID-19 pandemic.

Fourth, initially, 222 respondents responded to the survey for June 2019, and 271 guests completed the survey for June 2021. However, the study had to remove 53 responses for June 2019 and 59 responses for June 2021 due to the same pattern responses. This could cause errors in the result. The future study should utilize rank order questions if they want to find out which

importance influences the hotel recommendations the most. This helps respondents to decide which factors are affecting them in order and prevents them from responding to the same patterns.

## **Summary**

This study discovered the factors affecting hotel recommendations before COVID-19 and after the reopening from COVID-19. After data analysis, this study concluded that before the COVID-19 pandemic, value, service, cleanliness, room, and location in that order were significant factors that affected hotel recommendations. However, after the reopening from COVID-19, the order of importance was changed to value, service, room, and cleanliness. In addition, value, service, and room influence on guests' willingness to recommend hotels stronger after the reopening from the COVID-19 pandemic. On the other hand, cleanliness was less important, and location was not a significant factor. At the time of the writing, COVID-19 is still an ongoing crisis; therefore, it suggests hotel managers focus on value, service, room, and cleanliness to enhance guests' satisfaction and gain recommendations from them. COVID-19 brought numerous changes into the hospitality industry; however, if hotel management understands the status quote and guests' preferences, they can overcome the hardship.

#### References

- Aharon, Y., Jacobi, A., Cohen, E., Tzur, J., & Qadan, M. (2021). COVID-19, government measures and hospitality industry performance. *PloS One*, 16(8), e0255819–e0255819. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0255819
- Ali, B., Gardi, B., Othman, B., Ahmed, S., Ismael, N., Hamza, P., Aziz, H., Sabir, B., Sorguli, S., & Anwar, G. (2021). Impact of service quality on the customer satisfaction: Case study at online meeting platforms. *International journal of Engineering Business and Management*. 5(2), 65-77. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.22161/ijebm.5.2.6</u>
- Ali, B., Othman B., Gardi, B., Ahmed, S., Ismael N., Hamza P., Aziz H., Sabir B., Sorguli S., & Anwar, G. (2021). Hotel service quality: The impact of service quality on customer satisfaction in hospitality. *International Journal of Engineering Business and Management*, 5(3), 1-16. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.22161/ijebm.5.3.2</u>
- Anwar, K. (2017). Analyzing the conceptual model of service quality and its relationship with guests' satisfaction: A study of hotels in Erbil. *The International Journal of Accounting and Business Society*, 25(2), 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.21776/ub.ijabs.2017.25.2.01</u>
- Arendt, S. W., Roberts, K. R., Strohbehn, C., Ellis, J., Paez, P., & Meyer, J. (2012). Use of qualitative research in foodservice organizations: A review of challenges, strategies, and applications. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 24*(6), 820–837. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09596111211247182</u>
- Assaf, A. G., & Tsionas, M. G. (2019). Quantitative research in tourism and hospitality: An agenda for best-practice recommendations. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 31(7), 2776–2787. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-02-2019-0148</u>

- Atadil, H. A., & Lu, Q. (2021). An investigation of underlying dimensions of customers' perceptions of a safe hotel in the COVID-19 era: Effects of those perceptions on hotel selection behavior. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management, 30*(6), 655–672. https://doi.org/10.1080/19368623.2021.1877588
- Baek, J., & Ok, C. (2017). The power of design: How does design affect consumers' online hotel booking? *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 65, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2017.05.001
- Barber, N. & Scarcelli, M. (2010), "Enhancing the assessment of tangible service quality through the creation of a cleanliness measurement scale". *Managing Service Quality: An International Journal*, 20(1), 70-88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09604521011011630</u>

Barreda, A., & Bilgihan, A. (2013). An analysis of user-generated content for hotel experiences. Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Technology, 4(3), 263–280.

https://doi.org/10.1108/JHTT-01-2013-0001

- Bartik, A., Bertrand, M., Cullen, Z. B., Glaeser, E. L., Luca, M., & Stanton, C. T. (2020). How are small businesses adjusting to COVID-19? Early evidence from a survey. *National Bureau of Economic Research*. 1-35. <u>https://doi.org/10.3386/w26989</u>
- Bellizzi, J. A., & Hite, R. E. (1992). Environmental color, consumer feelings, and purchase likelihood. *Psychology & Marketing*, 9(5), 347–363. https://doi.org/10.1002/mar.4220090502
- Berry, L., Parasuraman, A., & Zeithaml, V. A. (1988). Communication and control processes in the delivery of service quality. *Journal of Marketing*, 52(2), 35–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/002224298805200203</u>

- Berry, L., Parasuraman, A., & Zeithaml, V. A. (1988). SERVQUAL: A multiple-item scale for measuring consumer perceptions of service quality. *Journal of Retailing*, 64(1), 12. <u>http://ezproxy.library.unlv.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-</u> journals/servqual-multiple-item-scale-measuring-consumer/docview/228609374/se-2?accountid=3611
- Bezerra, V., Silva, M., Soares, G., & Silva, M. (2020). Factors associated with people's behavior in social isolation during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Ciência Saude Coletiva*, 25(1), 2411– 2421. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/1413-81232020256.1.10792020</u>
- Bitner, M. J. (1992). Servicescapes: The impact of physical surroundings on customers and employees. *Journal of Marketing*, 56(2), 57–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/002224299205600205</u>
- Bland, M., & Altman, D. G. (1997). Statistics notes: Cronbach's alpha. *BMJ*, *314*(7080), 572. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.314.7080.572
- Bojanic, D. C. (1996). Consumer perceptions of price, value and satisfaction in the hotel Industry. *Journal of Hospitality & Leisure Marketing*, 4(1), 5–22.

https://doi.org/10.1300/J150v04n01\_02

Breiman, L. (2001). Random forests. Springer Link, 45, 5–32.

https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010933404324

Breiman, L., & Cutler, A. Random forests.

https://www.stat.berkeley.edu/~breiman/RandomForests/cc\_home.htm#overview

Brodeur, A., Gray, D., Islam, A., & Bhuiyan, S. (2020). A literature review of the economics of COVID-19. *IZA Institute of Labor Economics*, 1-61. <u>https://ftp.iza.org/dp13411.pdf</u>

Brodeur, A., Gray, D., Islam, A., & Bhuiyan, S. (2021). A literature review of the economics of COVID-19. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, *35*(4), 1007–1044.

https://doi.org/10.1111/joes.12423

- Brown, C., & Azaroff, B. (1994). An assessment of the relationship between customer satisfaction and service friendliness. *Journal of Organizational Behavior Management*, 14(2), 55-76, <u>https://doi.org/10.1300/J075v14n02\_05</u>
- Butler, S. (2020, August 8). Shocking findings from COVID-19 consumer sentiment study. *Travelboom*. <u>https://www.travelboommarketing.com/blog/shocking-results-from-the-</u> <u>covid-19-consumer-sentiment-study/</u>
- Carev, D. (2008). Guest satisfaction and guest loyalty study for the hotel industry. *ProQuest*. <u>https://www.proquest.com/docview/304373779/fulltextPDF/D23DC31B30CB494APQ/1</u> <u>?accountid=3611</u>
- Chan, J., Gao, Y., & McGinley, S. (2021). Updates in service standards in hotels: How COVID-19 changed operations. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 33(5), 1668–1687. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-09-2020-1013</u>
- Chan, W., & Lam, D. (2013). Hotel safety and security systems: Bridging the gap between managers and guests. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 32, 202–216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2012.05.010</u>
- Chan, W., Lee, S., Hon, A., Liu, L., Li, D., & Zhu, N. (2015). Management learning from air purifier tests in hotels: Experiment and action research. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 44, 70–76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2014.10.007</u>

- Chang, S., & Chang, V. (2021). The COVID-19 post-lockdown effect: Labour shortages and struggling food retail businesses. Western Social Science, 1-17. <u>https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/usri/usri2021/researchoutputshowcase/160/</u>
- Chen, C., Yang, H., Li, E., & Liu, C. (2015). How does hotel pricing influence guest satisfaction by the moderating influence of room occupancy? *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 49, 136-138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2015.06.006</u>
- Chen, X., Gao, H., Zou, Y., & Lin, F. (2020). Changes in psychological wellbeing, attitude and information-seeking behaviour among people at the epicentre of the COVID-19 pandemic: A panel survey of residents in Hubei province, China. *Epidemiology and Infection, 148*, e201–e201. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268820002009</u>
- Church, R. M. (2002). The effective use of secondary data. *Learning and Motivation*, *33*(1), 32–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/lmot.2001.1098</u>
- Cook, R. D. (2011) Cook's Distance. International Encyclopedia of Statistical Science. *Springer*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-04898-2\_189</u>
- Cronbach, L. (1951). Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. *Psychometrika*, *16*(3), 297–334. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02310555</u>
- Dale, A., Arber, S., Procter, M., & Gremy, J. P. (1989). Doing secondary analysis. *Revue Française de Sociologie*, 30(2), 339. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3321771</u>

Delfs, M. (2018). Forecasting in the supply chain with machine learning techniques [Master's thesis, Otto-Friedrich-Universit" at Bamberg]. Faculty of Information Systems and Applied Computer Sciences Cognitive Systems. <u>https://cogsys.uni-bamberg.de/theses/delfs/MA\_Thesis\_Delfs.pdf</u>

- Dolnicar, S., & Otter, T. (2003). Which hotel attributes matter? A review of previous and a framework for future research. *University of Wollongong Australia*. https://ro.uow.edu.au/commpapers/268
- Doherty, P. (2021, February 5). How COVID-19 has changed hotel and restaurant design, according to experts. *Travel Leisure*. <u>https://www.travelandleisure.com/hotels-resorts/hotel-interior-design-covid-guidelines</u>
- Duarte, A., Kok, S. K., Bressan, A., O'Shea, M., Sakellarios, N., Koresis, A., Solis, M. A., & Santoni, L. J. (2020). COVID-19, aftermath, impacts, and hospitality firms: An international perspective. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 91, 102654– 102654. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2020.102654</u>
- Dube, K., Nhamo, G., & Chikodzi, D. (2020). COVID-19 cripples the global restaurant and hospitality industry. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 24(11), 1-4. https://doi.org/10.1080/13683500.2020.1773416
- Dube, L., & Black, G. S. (2010). Impact of national traumatic events on consumer purchasing. International Journal of Consumer Studies, 34(3), 333-338.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1470-6431.2009.00813.x

- El-Adly, M. (2019). Modelling the relationship between hotel perceived value, customer satisfaction, and customer loyalty. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 50, 322-332. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2018.07.007</u>
- Ferguson, N., Laydon, D., Nedjati Gilani, G., Imai, N., Ainslie, K., Baguelin, M., Bhatia, S.,
  Boonyasiri, A., Cucunuba Perez, Z., Cuomo, G., Dighe, A., Dorigatti, I., Fu, H.,
  Gaythorpe, K., Green, W., Hamlet, A., Hinsley, W., Okell, L., Van Elsland, S., & Ghani,
  A. (2020). Impact of non-pharmaceutical interventions (NPIs) to reduce COVID19

mortality and healthcare demand. Imperial College London.

#### https://doi.org/10.25561/77482

Field, A. P. (2017). Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics (5th ed.). Sage.

- Garner, T., Safir, A., & Schild, J. (2020, December). Changes in consumer behaviors and financial well-being during the coronavirus pandemic: Results from the U.S. household pulse survey. U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. <u>https://doi.org/10.21916/mlr.2020.26</u>.
- Getty, J. M., & Thompson, K. N. (1995). The relationship between quality, satisfaction, and recommending behavior in lodging decisions. *Journal of Hospitality & Leisure Marketing*, 2(3), 3–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1300/J150v02n03\_02</u>
- Gronroos, C. (1984). A service quality model and its marketing implications. *European Journal* of Marketing, 18(4), 36–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/EUM000000004784</u>
- Gursoy, D., & Chi, C. (2020). Effects of COVID-19 pandemic on hospitality industry: Review of the current situations and a research agenda. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management, 29*(5), 527-529. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19368623.2020.1788231</u>
- Gursoy, D., Chi, G., & Chi, H. (2020). COVID-19 study 2 report: Restaurant and hotel industry: Restaurant and hotel customers' sentiment analysis. Would they come back? If they would, when? (Report No. 2), *Carson College of Business, Washington State University*, 1-21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19368623.2020.1788231</u>
- Hair, F. Jr., Black, C., Babin, J., Anderson, E., & Tatham, L. (2010). *Multivariate data analysis* (7th ed.). Upper Saddle River: Pearson Education.
- Hellstrand, P. (2010, January 6). Price impact on guest satisfaction. *Hospitalitynet*. <u>https://www.hospitalitynet.org/opinion/4044870.html</u>

- Hernández, J., Muñoz, F., & Sánchez, J. (2015). The influence of e-word-of-mouth on travel decision-making: Consumer profiles. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 18(11), 1001–1021. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13683500.2013.802764</u>
- Hooper, D., Coughlan, J., & Mullen, M. (2008). Structural equation modeling: Guidelines for determining model fit. *Journal of Business Research Method*, 6(1), 53-60. <u>10.21427/D7CF7R</u>
- Hotels by Wyndham (2021), "Count on us" <u>https://www.wyndhamhotels.com/about-us/ count-on-us.</u>
- Huang, J., Wang, H., Fan, M., Zhuo, A., Sun, Y., & Li, Y. (2020). Understanding the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on transportation-related behaviors with human mobility data. *International Conference on Knowledge Discovery & Data Mining*, 3443–3450. https://doi.org/10.1145/3394486.3412856
- Hussain, S., Ahmed, W., Jafar, R. M. S., Rabnawaz, A., & Jianzhou, Y. (2017). eWOM source credibility, perceived risk and food product customer's information adoption. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 66, 96–102. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.09.034</u>
- Jasinskas, E., Streimikiene, D., Svagzdiene, B., & Simanavicius, A. (2016). Impact of hotel service quality on the loyalty of customers. *Economic Research-Ekonomska Istraživanja*, 29(1), 559-572. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1331677X.2016.1177465</u>
- Jiang, Y., & Wen, J. (2020). Effects of COVID-19 on hotel marketing and management: A perspective article, *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 32(8), 2563-2573. <u>10.1108/ijchm-03-2020-0237</u>

- Johnston, M. (2017). Secondary data analysis: A method of which the time has some. *Qualitative and Quantitative Methods in Libraries*, *3*(3), 619-626. <u>http://www.qqml-journal.net/index.php/qqml/article/view/169</u>
- Jonas, O. B. (2013). World development report 2014 on risk and opportunity: Managing risks for development. <u>https://doi.org/10.1596/978-0-8213-9903-3</u>

Keiningham, T., Gupta, S., Aksoy, L., & Buoye, A. (2014). The high price of customer satisfaction. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 55(3), 37-46.
 <u>http://ezproxy.library.unlv.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/high-price-customer-satisfaction/docview/1514708719/se-2?accountid=3611</u>

Kenny, J., & Dutt, C. S. (2022). The long-term impacts of hotel's strategic responses to COVID-19: The case of Dubai. *Tourism and Hospitality Research*, 22(1), 71–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/14673584211034525</u>

- Khan, K., Niazi, A., Nasir, A., Hussain, M., & Khan, M. (2021). The effect of COVID-19 on the hospitality industry: The implication for open innovation. *Journal of Open Innovation*, 7(30), 30. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/joitmc7010030</u>
- Kim, J., & Hardin, A. (2010). The Impact of virtual worlds on word-of-mouth: Improving social networking and servicescape in the hospitality industry. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, 19(7), 735–753. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19368623.2010.508005</u>
- Kim, J. (2019). Multicollinearity and misleading statistical results. *Korean Journal of Anesthesiology*, 72(6), 558–569. <u>https://doi.org/10.4097/kja.19087</u>
- Kim, S., Chun, H., & Lee, H. (2005). The effects of SARS on the Korean hotel industry and measures to overcome the crisis: A case study of six Korean five-star hotels. *Asia Pacific*

Journal of Tourism Research, 10(4), 369–377.

### https://doi.org/10.1080/10941660500363694

- Kim, S., Kim, J., Badu-Baiden, F., Giroux, M., & Choi, Y. (2021). Preference for robot service or human service in hotels? Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal* of Hospitality Management, 93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2020.102795</u>
- Kline, P. (2000). *Handbook of Psychological Testing* (2nd ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315812274

Knofczynski, G., & Mundfrom, D. (2008). Sample sizes when using multiple linear regression for prediction. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 68(3), 43-442. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164407310131

- Kowatsch, T., & Maass, W. (2010). In-store consumer behavior: How mobile recommendation agents influence usage intentions, product purchases, and store preferences. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 26(4), 697–704. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2010.01.006</u>
- Kuang, Y., & Zhang, W. (2017). Research on the design for hotel rooms. *Education and Humanities Research*, *142*, 1-3. <u>https://doi.org/10.2991/icelaic-17.2017.14</u>
- Kuo, M. (2007). The importance of hotel employee service attitude and the satisfaction of international tourists. *The Service Industries Journal*, 27(8), 1073-1085.

https://doi.org/10.1080/02642060701673752

Lantz, B. (2015). Machine learning with R (2nd ed.). Packt Publishing.

Latinopoulos, D. (2020). Analyzing the role of urban hotel location in guests' satisfaction. *Journal of Tourism and Hospitality Research*, *31*(4), 636–650. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13032917.2020.1808489</u>

Leo, D., & Sardanelli, F. (2020). Statistical significance: P-value, 0.05 threshold, and

applications to radionics - reasons for a conservative approach. *European Radiology Experimental, 4*(1), 18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s41747-020-0145-y</u>

Levtchenko, A. (2020, August 23). CV19: Easing the intense pressure on hotel housekeeping. *Hotel Executive*. <u>https://www.hotelexecutive.com/business\_review/6665/cv19-easing-</u> <u>the-intense-pressure-on-hotel-housekeeping</u>

Lin, I. Y. (2004). Evaluating a servicescape: The effect of cognition and emotion. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 23(2), 163–178.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2003.01.001

- Line, N. D., & Hanks, L. (2019). The social servicescape: understanding the effects in the fullservice hotel industry. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 31(2), 753–770. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-11-2017-0722</u>
- Litvin, S. W., Goldsmith, R. E., & Pan, B. (2008). Electronic word-of-mouth in hospitality and tourism management. *Tourism Management*, *29*(3), 458–468.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2007.05.011

- Lockyer, T. (2005). The perceived importance of price as one hotel selection dimension. *Tourism Management*, 26(4), 529–537. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2004.03.009</u>
- Lucas, A. F. (2008). The determinants and effects of slot servicescape satisfaction in a Las Vegas casino. UNLV Retrospective Theses & Dissertations. 2445. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.25669/76rn-3b1s</u>
- Mason, C. H., & Perreault, W. D. (1991). Collinearity, power, and interpretation of multiple regression analysis. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 28(3), 268. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3172863</u>

Mellinas, J. P., Nicolau, J. L., & Park, S. (2019). Inconsistent behavior in online consumer reviews: The effects of hotel attribute ratings on location. *Tourism Management*, 71, 421–427. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2018.10.034</u>

MGM Resorts International. (2020). Releases health and safety plan for reopening United States properties. *Cision*. <u>https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/mgm-resorts-</u> <u>international-releases-health-and-safety-plan-for-re-opening-united-states-properties-</u> <u>301057664.html</u>

Miao, L., Im, J., Fu, X., Kim, H., & Zhang, Y. E. (2021). Proximal and distal post-COVID travel behavior. Annals of Tourism Research, 88, 103159.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annals.2021.103159

Milfelner, B., Snoj, B., & Korda, A. P. (2011). Measurement of perceived quality, perceived value, image, and satisfaction interrelations of hotel services: Comparison of tourists from Slovenia and Italy. *Društvena Istraživanja*, 20(3), 605–624.

https://doi.org/10.5559/di.20.3.01

- Mosadeghrad, A. (2011). Towards a theory of quality management: An integration of strategic management, quality management and project management. *International Journal of Modelling in Operations Management*. 2(1), 89–118. <u>10.1504/ijmom.2012.043962</u>
- Mukaka, M. (2012). Statistics corner: A guide to appropriate use of correlation coefficient in medical research. *Malawi Medical Journal*, 24(3), 69–71.
   https://www.ajol.info/index.php/mmj/article/view/81576
- Nicola, M., Alsafi, Z., Sohrabi, C., Kerwan, A., Al-Jabir, A., Iosifidis, C., Agha, M., & Agha, R. (2020). The socio-economic implications of the coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19): A

review. International Journal of Surgery, 78, 185–193.

### https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsu.2020.04.018

Niresh, A., & Thirunavukkarasu, V. (2014). Firm size and profitability: A study of listed manufacturing firms in Sri Lanka. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 9(4), 1-8. <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=2422441</u>

Obinwanne, C., & Alozie, E. (2019). Interior design of hotel rooms as a factor affecting customer satisfaction in hotels. *International Journal of Advanced Studies in Ecology*, 6(1), 2354-4260.
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/334698320\_Interior\_Design\_of\_Hotel\_Rooms\_

as a Factor\_Affecting\_Customer\_Satisfaction\_in\_Hotels

- Pal, M. (2005). Random forest classifier for remote sensing classification. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 26(1), 217–222. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01431160412331269698</u>
- Pan, C. M. (2002). Market concentration ratio analysis of the international tourist hotel industry in Taipei area. *Tourism Management Research*, 2(2), 57-66.
- Parady, G., Taniguchi, A., & Takami, K. (2020). Travel behavior changes during the COVID-19 pandemic in Japan: Analyzing the effects of risk perception and social influence on going-out self-restriction. *Transportation Research Interdisciplinary Perspectives*, 7, 100181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trip.2020.100181</u>
- Park, H., Kline, S. F., Kim, J., Almanza, B., & Ma, J. (2019). Does hotel cleanliness correlate with surfaces guests contact? *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 31(7), 2933–2950. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-02-2018-0105</u>

- Radojevic, T., Stanisic, N., & Stanic, N. (2017). Inside the rating scores: A multilevel analysis of the factors influencing customer satisfaction in the hotel industry. *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, 58(2), 134–164. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1938965516686114</u>
- Rahman, F., Dahlan, N., & Razali, N. S. (2015). Modeling adjusted baseline energy in an office building using artificial neural network. *Applied Mechanics and Materials*, 785, 655–660. <u>https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMM.785.655</u>
- Rajaguru, R. (2016). Role of value for money and service quality on behavioural intention: A study of full service and low-cost airlines. *Journal of Air Transport Management*, 53, 114–122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jairtraman.2016.02.008</u>
- Rajaguru, R., & Hassanli, N. (2018). The role of trip purpose and hotel star rating on guests' satisfaction and wom. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 30(5), 2268–2286. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-01-2017-0044</u>
- Rajesh, R., & Rajesh, G. (2016). Value for money and service quality in customer satisfaction. *The Social Sciences*, *11*(19), <u>4613-4616</u>. 10.36478/sscience.2016.4613.4616
- Roche, M. (2021). Where can you travel if you're vaccinated? *U.S News*. <u>https://travel.usnews.com/features/where-can-you-travel-if-youre-vaccinated</u>
- Roy, S. (2011). Competitiveness in service sector. *Global Business Review*, *12*(1), 51–69. https://doi.org/10.1177/097215091001200104
- Rubin, G., & Wessely, S. (2020). The psychological effects of quarantining a city. *BMJ*, *368*, 12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m313</u>
- Rumao, S. (2019). Exploration of variable importance and variable selection techniques in presence of correlated variables. *ProQuest Dissertations Publishing*. <u>https://scholarworks.rit.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=11458&context=theses</u>

Rutledge, D., & Barros, A. (2002). Durbin–Watson statistic as a morphological estimator of information content. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 454(2), 277–295. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-2670(01)01555-0

Sadhale, M., & Sathe, S. (2021). A study of the impact of room interior design and decoration on guest experience in star hotels. *Kesari Mahratta Trust*, 1(2), 1-23.

http://localhost:8080/xmlui/handle/123456789/9823

Serafini, G., Parmigiani, B., Amerio, A., Aguglia, A., Sher, L., & Amore, M. (2020). The psychological impact of COVID-19 on the mental health in the general population, *QJM: An International Journal of Medicine*, *113*(8), 531–537,

https://doi.org/10.1093/qjmed/hcaa201

- Shamshiripour, A., Rahimi, E., Shabanpour, R., & Mohammadian, A. (2020). How is COVID-19 reshaping activity-travel behavior? Evidence from a comprehensive survey in Chicago. *Transportation Research Interdisciplinary Perspectives*, 7(C), 100216–100216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trip.2020.100216</u>
- Shao, Y. (2017). The effect of front desk employees' characteristics on the first impression of customers and customers' satisfaction. *ProQuest Dissertations Publishing*. <u>https://doi.org/10.32469/10355/62085</u>
- Sharma, S., & Kaushik, T. (2021). Aesthetically clean to clinically clean A study on new housekeeping practices in Delhi hotels beyond COVID-19 pandemic. *Emerald Insight*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/WHATT-05-2021-0069</u>
- Siguaw, J. A., & Enz, C. A. (1999). Best practices in hotel architecture. *The Cornell Hotel and Restaurant Administration Quarterly*, 40(5), 44–49. https://doi.org/10.1177/001088049904000508

- Singh, A. K., Yoo, M., & Dalpatadu, R. J. (2018). Determinants of customer satisfaction at the San Francisco international airport. *Journal of Tourism & Hospitality*, 8(1), 1-9. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.35248/2167-0269.19.8.398</u>
- Shin, H., & Kang, J. (2020). Reducing perceived health risk to attract hotel customers in the COVID-19 pandemic era: Focused on technology innovation for social distancing and cleanliness. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 91, 102664–102664. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2020.102664</u>
- Sohrabi, B., Vanani, I., Tahmasebipur, K., & Fazli, Safar. (2012). An exploratory analysis of hotel selection factors: A comprehensive survey of Tehran hotels. *International Journal* of Hospitality Management, 31(1), 96–106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2011.06.002</u>
- Stapleton, S. (2020, March 15). MGM Resorts closes all Las Vegas properties effective March 17. Eater Las Vegas. <u>https://vegas.eater.com/2020/3/15/21181058/mgm-resorts-closesvegas-properties-march-16</u>
- Staff, R. (2020, August 28). MGM resorts to lay off 18,000 furloughed U.S. employees. *Reuters*. <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-mgm-resorts-intl-redundancies/mgm-resorts-to-lay-off-18000-furloughed-u-s-employees-idUSKBN25O2B7</u>
- Stutz, H. (2020, November 24). Nevada: Hotel rooms not included in mitigation efforts, but casinos must reduce capacity to 25%. CDC Gaming Reports Inc. <u>https://www.cdcgamingreports.com/nevada-casinos-must-reduce-capacity-to-25-buthotel-rooms-not-included-in-mitigation-efforts/</u>
- Tanna, K. (2020, April 1). Covid 19 impact on hospitality and startup sector. BW Business World. <u>http://www.businessworld.in/article/Covid-19-Impact-On-Hospitality-And-Startup-Sector/01-04-2020-187918/</u>

- Tavakol, M., & Dennick, R. (2011). Making sense of Cronbach's alpha. International Journal of Medical Education, 2, 53–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.5116/ijme.4dfb.8dfd</u>
- Tefera, O., & Govender, K. (2016). Hotel ratings, service quality, customer satisfaction and loyalty: The perception of guests at Ethiopian hotels. *African Journal of Hospitality*, 5(3), 1-23. <u>https://doaj.org/article/e18f65ee8bff44fcb0a5b4cdfbe57b67</u>

Tripathy, J. P. (2013). Secondary data analysis: Ethical issues and challenges. *Iranian Journal of Public Health*, 42(12), 1478–1479.
<u>http://ezproxy.library.unlv.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/secondary-data-analysis-ethical-issues-challenges/docview/1477356490/se-2</u>

- Trusov, M., Bucklin, R., & Pauwels, K. (2009). Effects of word-of-mouth versus: Traditional marketing: Findings from an internet social networking site. *Journal of Marketing*, 73(5), 90-102. <u>https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkg.73.5.90</u>
- UNWTO. (2021). Tourist numbers down 83% but confidence slowly rising. https://www.unwto.org/taxonomy/term/347
- Uyanık, G., & Güler, N. (2013). A study on multiple linear regression analysis. *Procedia Social* and Behavioral Sciences, 106, 234–24 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.12.027</u>
- Veloso, B., Leal, F., Malheiro, B., & Burguillo, C. (2019). On-line guest profiling and hotel recommendation. *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 34, 100832. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.elerap.2019.100832</u>
- Vermeulen, E., & Seegers, D. (2009). Tried and tested: The impact of online hotel reviews on consumer consideration. *Tourism Management*, 30(1), 123–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2008.04.008</u>

Wachyuni, S. S., & Kusumaningrum, D. A. (2020). The effect of COVID-19 pandemic: How are

the future tourist behavior? *Journal of Education, Society and Behavioural Science,* 33(4), 67–76. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.unlv.edu/10.9734/jesbs/2020/v33i430219</u>

- Wang, K., Ma, M., & Yu, J. (2021). Understanding the perceived satisfaction and revisiting intentions of lodgers in a restricted service scenario: Evidence from the hotel industry in quarantine. *Service Business*, 15(2), 335–368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11628-021-00445-</u>
- Wang, M., Lu, Q., Chi, R. T., & Shi, W. (2015). How word-of-mouth moderates room price and hotel stars for online hotel booking an empirical investigation with Expedia data. *Journal* of Electronic Commerce Research, 16, 72. <u>https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/How-</u> <u>Word-of-Mouth-Moderates-Room-Price-and-Hotel-an-Wang-</u>

Lu/0724f49ecc71d31ff2d2c0cf33e36afb6f6600f9#paper-header

- Wang, J., Wang, X., & Yang, S. (2020). The psychological impact of COVID-19 on Chinese individuals. *Yonsei Medical Journal*, 61(5), 438-440. <u>https://doi.org/10.3349/ymj.2020.61.5.438</u>
- Wen, J., Lin, Z., Liu, X., Xiao, S. H., & Li, Y. (2021). The interaction effects of online reviews, brand, and price on consumer hotel booking decision making. Journal of Travel Research, 60(4), 846–859. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0047287520912330</u>

WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard. (2021). https://covid19.who.int/

Williams, C. (2021, May 11). Hospitality industry faces labor shortage as COVID-19 fears linger. FOX29. <u>https://www.fox29.com/news/hospitality-industry-faces-labor-shortage-as-covid-19-fears-linger</u> Williams, M., Grajales, C., & Kurkiewicz, D. (2013). Assumptions of multiple regression:
Correcting two misconceptions. *Practical Assessment, Research & Evaluation, 18*(11), 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.7275/55hn-wk47</u>

World Bank Group. (2020). *Global economic prospects*, World Bank Group. <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/33748</u>

World Economic Forum. (2020). A visual history of pandemics. *World Economic Forum*. <u>https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/03/a-visual-history-of-pandemics/</u>

- World Health Organization. (2020). COVID-19 management in hotels and other entities of the accommodation sector. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/333992</u>
- Wen, J., Kozak, M., Yang, S., & Liu, F. (2021). COVID-19: Potential effects on Chinese citizens' lifestyle and travel. *Tourism Review*, 76(1), 74–87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/TR-03-2020-0110</u>
- Wu, C., & Liang, R. D. (2009). Effect of experiential value on customer satisfaction with service encounters in luxury-hotel restaurants. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 28(4), 586–593. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2009.03.008</u>
- Yang, Y., Mao, Z., & Tang, J. (2018). Understanding guest satisfaction with urban hotel location. *Journal of Travel Research*, 57(2), 243–259.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0047287517691153

- Yuksel, A. (2017). A critique of "response bias" in tourism, travel and hospitality research. *Tourism Management*, 59, 376–384. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2016.08.003</u>
- Zemke, D. M. V., Neal, J., Shoemaker, S., & Kirsch, K. (2015). Hotel cleanliness: Will guests pay for enhanced disinfection? *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 27(4), 690–710. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-01-2014-0020</u>

- Zenker, S., & Kock, F. (2020). The coronavirus pandemic A critical discussion of a tourism research agenda. *Tourism Management*, 81, 104164–104164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2020.104164
- Zhang, P., Gerdes, J. H., & Meng, F. (2020). The impact of national culture on hotel guest evaluation - A big data approach. *The International Journal of Tourism Research*, 22(5), 582–592. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jtr.2357</u>
- Zheng, D., Luo, Q., & Ritchie, B. W. (2021). Afraid to travel after COVID-19? Self-protection, coping and resilience against pandemic 'travel fear', *Tourism Management*, 83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2020.104261
- Zhu, N., Zhang, D., Wang, W., Li, X., Yang, B., Song, J., Zhao, X., Huang, B., Shi, W., Lu, R., Niu, P., Zhan, F., Ma, X., Wang, D., Xu, W., Wu, G., Gao, G. F., Tan, W., & China Novel Coronavirus Investigating and Research Team. (2020). A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in china, 2019. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 382(8), 727–733. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2001017</u>

## **Curriculum Vitae**

**Boran Kim** 

University of Nevada, Las Vegas | William F. Harrah Hotel College boran921@naver.com

## **EDUCATION**

**Master of Science, Hotel Administration** May 2022 University of Nevada, Las Vegas Thesis: Factors affecting hotel recommendation: Before the COVID-19 pandemic and after the reopening

**Bachelor of Science, Hospitality Management** Minor: Spanish University of Nevada, Las Vegas

# **EXPERIENCE**

**Hotel Operations Manager** MGM Grand Hotel & Casino

**Hotel Operations Manager** Mandalay Bay Resort & Casino

**Front Desk Lead** Excalibur Hotel & Casino

**Front Desk Agent** Excalibur Hotel & Casino April 2021 - Current Las Vegas, Nevada

July 2019 - Aug 2020 Las Vegas, Nevada

Oct 2018 - July 2019 Las Vegas, Nevada

April 2017 - Sept 2018 Las Vegas, Nevada

Aug 2017